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UNIVERS1r1ios SUPcRANNLIAIION SCHLME 

MANAGEMENT STATEMENT 

The year to 31 March 2007 was another year of continued growth for the fund. The scheme's 

active membership increased by 4.8'Yc, from 115,600 to 121,200, the number of pensioners by 5.6% 

from 44,700 to 47,200 and the number of deferred pensioners by 7% from 66, 100 to 70,700. 

The total membership at 31 March 2007 was just over 239,100, an increase of28% in four years. 

The fund's assets have also continued to grow and at 31 March 2007 the total value of the fund 

stood at £30. l billion. Stock markets were strong for the fourth year running in 2006, following 

three years of negative returns from 2000 to 2002, although the fund's return of9.9% in 2006 

was below its benchmark return of12.2%. The ten-year return of the fund of7.8'Ji, comfortably 

exceeds both earnings growth and retail price inflation over the same period. 

The rising stock market', coupled with an increase in gilt yields, have also resulted in an 

improvement in the scheme's funding level. At the date of the last valuation at 31 March 2005, 

at which point equities were only just beginning to recover from a three year bear market, the 

scheme's funding level had stood at 77%. As at 31 March 2007, however, the actuary estimated 

that the funding level had increased to 91 %. 

Whilst this improvement in the funding level is of considerable comfort, the pressures on the 

funding of the scheme, and in particular salary increases in excess of previous experience and 

improving longevity, remain. The management committee undertook a review during 2006, in 

consultation with the participating employers, of the funding of the scheme to determine 

whether an increase in contributions should be made in advance of the next valuation at 31 

March 2008. As a result of this review, the trustee company introduced a charge, payable by the 

employers, to cover the cost of providing unreduced benefits on retirement below the age of 60. 

The actuary has estimated that this charge should have the effect of improving the scheme 

funding level by approximately 3% and easing the demand on the future service contribution rate 

by approximately 2%. 

The consultation exercise with the employers also indicated broad support for an increase in the 

retirement age for future entrants to the scheme to 65. A rule change to put this into effect is being 

considered by the USS joint negotiating committee. Following the review, and acting on actuarial 

advice, the trustee company decided not to increase contributions in advance of the 2008 valuation 

but will review the contribution rate again following consideration of the results of that valuation. 

The fund has continued with its policy of diversification into alternative assets, which commenced 

last year. This is progressing well and as at 30 June 2007 the alternative assets portfolio accounted 

for 2.3% of total investments and is on track to achieve its target of 5% by 3 lst March 2008. 

Consideration will be given to increasing this to 20% over the medium term. 

Martin Harris 
Chainn,111 

During the year staff from across the company have 

worked with Civica, the administration software 

provider, to upgrade our pensions administration 

system to a new application (UPM2). Implementation 

is scheduled for early 2008. The upgrade to UPM2 

provides an opportunity to enhance our award 

winning web site and during the coming year we 

will be working with members and users at the 

institutions to understand how we can maximise the 

technology to further improve service levels and data 

quality, while, at the same time reducing operational 

costs both at the trustee company and at institutions. 
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Tom Merchant 
Chief Excc11til'C 
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The fund's investments have increased from 

£15.5 billion in 2003 to £30.1 billion as 

at 31 March 2007. More details are given 

in the investment committee report on 

page 19 and in the five year summary of 

the fund accounts on page 73. 

Strong investment returns since 2003 

have seen the fund's position improve, 

resulting in the 5 year and 10 year returns 

comfortably exceeding both RPI and 

average earnmgs. 

The membership of the scheme continues 

to grow steadily. As at 31 March 2007 the 

total membership was 239, 100 an increase 

of 5.6% from last year and 28.0% from 

four years ago. More details are given in the 

five year summary of the fund accounts 

on page 73. 



UNIVERSITIES SUPcRANNUATION SCHEME 

TRU STEE COMPANY 

PRINCIPAL OFFICERS AND ADVISERS 

The principal officers and advisers of the trustee company at 1 August 2007 are: 

Chi�{ Exewtiue 

Chief Itwestment Officer 

Ch4 Financial Officer 

Pensions Policy Manager 

Pensions Operations A1anager 

Company Secretary 

Head of IT 

Communications Aianager 

Actuary 

Solicitors 

Auditors 

Bankers 

T H  Merchant 

P G  Moon 

C S  Hunter 

B Mulkern 

B Steventon 

I M  Sherlock 

I J Hall 

C G Busby 

E S  Topper 
of Mercer Human Resource Consulting Limited 
Clarence House, Clarence Street, Manchester M2 4DW 

DLA Piper, India Buildings, Liverpool L2 ONH 

KPMG LLP, St James' Square, Manchester M2 6DS 

Barclays Bank Plc, 4 Water Street, Liverpool L69 2DU 

The principal other organisations acting for the trustee company during the year were: 

Solicitors 

Investment managers 

Inuestment consultants 

Custodians 

Inwstment peiformance measurement 

Retail property inl'estment adl'iser 

and property manager 

Commercial property investment 
adviser and property m,mager 

Property ml11ers 

Computer soiware 

l#bsite design 

Computer hardware 

Data recovery 

Im11rers 

Clifford Chance, Lawrence Graham, 
Mitchells Roberton 

Capital International Limited, Legal & General Assurance, 
Wellington Management International, 

Henderson Global Investors Limited 

Mercer Investment Consulting 

State Street, JP Morgan plc, ABN Amro Mellon 

Investment Property Databank Limited, HSBC 

Jones Lang LaSalle 

DTZ Debenham Tie Leung 

Drivas Jonas 

Civica plc, Azlan Limited, Morse Limited, GSL Limited, 
Avanade UK Ltd, Transmedia Gateway Limited ( tmg) 

Anthony Hodges Consulting Ltd 

Hewlett-Packard Limited 

Synstar Business Continuity Limited 

Royal & Sun Alliance, AIG Europe (UK) 

The trustee of Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS) is the trustee company, Universities 

Superannuation Scheme Limited (USS Ltd), which is appointed under USS rule 20.1. The statutory 

power of appointing new trustees applies provided that a new trustee may not be appointed 

without the approval of the joint negotiating committee. 

The trustee company is also the scheme administrator for the purposes of the Finance Act 2004. 

The registered office of the trustee company to which enquiries about the scheme generally or 

about an individual's entitlement should be sent is: 

Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited 

Royal Liver Building, Liverpool L3 1 PY 
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UNIVcRSI f!ES SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

TRU STEE COMPANY 

The membership at 31 March 2007 of the principal committees was as follows: 

Management Committee 

Appointed by [ 'nil'ersities UK (UUK) 

Sir Martin Harris (Chairman), Professor Sir Ivor Crewe, 

M S Potts, Baroness Warwick of Undercliffe 

Appointed by the Unil'crsity and College Union (UCU) 

Lady Merrison, Professor Charles Sutcliffe, D Guppy 

Appointed by the H(r,lzer Education Funding Councils (HEFCs) 

Professor D Eastwood 

Co-opted 

Professor John Bull, M Butcher, V Holmes, H RJacobs 

Finance & General Purposes Committee 

Appointed by the m,magement committee 

Professor John Bull (Chairman), D Guppy, V Holmes, H RJacobs, 

Lady Merrison, M S Potts, Baroness Warwick ofUndercliffe 

lrwestment Committee 

Appointed by tlze management committee 

V Holmes (Chairman), G Allen, Professor John Bull, A Gulliford, 

Sir Martin Harris, H RJacobs, D Robins, Professor Charles Sutcliffe 

Audit Committee 

Appoillted by t/ze mana,r?ement committee 

M Butcher (Chairman), Professor John Bull, Lady Merrison, 

M S Potts, Professor Charles Sutcliffe 

Remuneration Committee 

Appointed by the 111a11a,1zement committee 

H RJacobs (Chairman), M Butcher, Lady Merrison, M S  Potts, 

Baroness Warwick of Undercliffe 

Rules Committee 

Appointed by the 111,magement committee 

H R Jacobs (Chairman), A D Linfoot, J W D Trythall 

Ad\'i•mry Committee 

Appointed by UUK 

AD Linfoot (Chairman), Dr A Bruce, C Vidgeon 

Appointed by UCU 

Dr A Roger, J Guild, Dr S Wharton 

Nominatiom Committee 

Appointed by the management committee 

Professor John Bull (Chairman), Sir Martin Harris, 

Professor Charles Sutcliffe, Baroness Warwick of Undercliffe 

Joint Negotiating Committee 

llldcpcndc11t Clwimwn 

Sir Kenneth Berrill 

Appointed by UUK 

Dr A Bruce, I Crawford, J Gordon, A D Linfoot, C Vidgeon 

Appointed by L 'CU 

Dr J Anderson, A Carr, G Egan, Dr T McKnight, Dr A Roger 
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UNIVERSll lES SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

TR U STEE COMPANY 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEMBERS a� ,it I August 2u117

Sir Martin Harris, Chairman 

Martin Harris (03) i, deputy chair of the North We-st Dt>vt"lopment Agency and Director of the Otlict!' for Fair Acee,;,. 
He has been a director of USS Ltd since l April 1991 deputy chairman from l July 2ll04 and chairman from l April 
2006. He was Vice-Chancellor of the University of Manchester from 1992 to 21Ht..J and Vice-Chann:·Uor of the 
Univer,;;ity of Essex from 1987 to 1992. He sen-e-d as chairman of the Committt't' of Vice-Chancellor,; and Princip.11,;; 

(now UUK) from 1997 to l'J'J'J. 

DIRECTORS 

Professor John Bull 

Professor Bull (67) was Vice-Chancellor of the Universitv of Ph•mouth 
from 1989 until his retirement in 2( 102. An economist and. accou�tant bv 
discipline, he had a particular interest in the finance and manag:emen,t 
of higher education. He becJme J co-optl."d member of the USS boJrd 
in 21 I( 14 .1.nd deputy ch.1.irman on 1 April 21 II 16. His is currently chairman 
of (he Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust. the Devon Jnd Cornwall 
learning and Skills Council and of Dartington College of Arts. 

David McDonnell 

David McDonnell (64) ha_s been Chief Executive Officer of Grant 
T hornton International since �001. He is currently President of the 
Uni\·ersity of Liverpool, Honorary Fe11ow of Liverpool John Moores 
Unin�r,iry. Deputy lieutenant ot- the County of Mer<il.")'<iide Jnd a 
committee member on various charitie,. He \Vas Chairman of the 
Trustees of the National Museums Liverpool for ten years and was 
awarded the CBE in June 211115 Queen's Birthdav Honours. He was 
appointed Director of USS Ltd in April 211117. 

Lady Merrison 

Lady Merrison {6H) was appointed the second pensioner director of 
USS Ltd in October 2003 succeeding Angela Crum Ewing. She w.l\ 
formaly a lecturer in medie\·al history .tt the Uni\·ersit\' of Bristol. 
Following early retirement she served �s J non-exenuiv; director in 
the fields of banking, media and insurance. She is currenth- chairman 
of The HTV Pension Scheme and director of two oth.er pension 
schemes. She is also president of the Guild of Friends of the Bristol 
Royal Ho\pital for Sick Children Jnd sits on severJI rru•W<i. 

Professor Charles Sutcliffe 

Charks Sutclitfe (59) teaches finance Jt the ICMA Centre of the University 
of Reading; and previously worked at the universitte,;; ofNc,vcastle and 
Southampton. From 19H 1 to 1985 he was an elected member ofUerksh.ire 
County Council and a trustee of the Berkshire LocaJ Authorities 
Superannuation Fund. Between 1973 .tnd t 985 he was auditor of the 
Reading Association of University Teacht'rs. Since 1985 he hac; been 
J. member of tht..· Research Board and the Research and Development 
Group of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, and 
vice-chairman of the Rese,1rch BoJrd since 1997. He \\"c\S appointed 
,1, a UCU nominated director of USS Ltd in 2001. 

Baroness Warwick of Undercliffe 

Diana Warwick (6.2) was appointed chief executive of Universities UK 
in 1995. Previously she had been for three years Chief Ext:cutive of 
the Westminstt'r Foundation for Democracy and from 1983-1 q93 she 
was the General SecretJry of the AssociJtion of Univc-rsity Tt!Jchcrs, 
repre,enting mme 311,f lf lll academic and senior staff in UK uni\'1.'rsities. 
She was a member of the Employment Appeals Tribunal from 1984 
to l 999 and the Standing Committee on Standards in Public Lile from 
1994 to 211111l From 1985 co 1995 she served as a board member of 
the British Council, \Vas a governor of the Common\vealth Institute 
until 1995. and a. member of the TUC General Council between 
1989 and 1992. She has honorary degrees from Bradford, Open and 
London universities. 
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Howard Jacobs 

Howard Jacobs (54) became a co-opted member of the board on 
I October 211112 upon his retirement from the solicitors, Slaughter and 
May, where he specialised in employment la\v and pensions bw. He 
remains a comultJ.nt with that firm. He is .1lso chairman of thl." 
Woolworths Group Pension Scheme Jnd J vice-president of ICAN 
the national educ.1tional charity for children with communication 
difficulties. 

Michael Butcher 

Michad Dutcher (60) became a co-opted member of the board on 
1 st No\"ember 21 lll4 having retired from IBM where he held a varietv 
of technical. sales and marketing positions in UK and Europe, latterl�­
a� Tivoli EMEA Marketing Director. He is a. member of the audit 
committee at Loughborough Umversity and a director of the IBM 
UK pension fund. He continue<i to take an active interest in the 
effective use of IT. 

Virginia Holmes 

VirginiJ Holmes (47) was formerly chicfexecutive of AXA Investment 
Managers in the UK, and ma.n.1ging director of llarcl..1y,; Dank Trust 
Company. She is currently non-t'.'xecutive director and chair of the 
,mdir rnmmittt"P ofJP Morgan Fh:'ming Claverhouse lnvt!"mnent Trust. 
She became a director of USS in September 211115. 

Dave Guppy 

Dave Guppy (63) has worked in the computing service at University 
College London since 1979. Prior to that he workt.·d in similar role� 
,lt the London Hospital Medical College. a ,oftwarc co-operJtive and 
lBM. He was President of University College London A,;sociation of 
University Teachers (20112104) and served as Vice-Chair of the national 
AUT computer staffs committee (1998, 21103). He was a member of 
the nJtional executive committee of the Association of University 
Teachers and was its Vice-Pre"iident for one year in 11Hl5, 06. He w,1s 
appointed a director of USS Ltd in 211115. 

Professor David Eastwood 

Protessor Da-·id Eastwood (48) became Chief Executive ofHEFCE on 
1 Scptembt-r 2( I< 16. He wa� previously Vice-Chancellor of the University 
of fast Anglia (UEA). Before taking up his position ,lt UEA. Profrssor 
Ea,;n.vood was Chief Executive of the Arts and HumJnities Research 
Board. Previously he held a Chair in Modern History at the University 
of Wales Swansea, where he was also head of department, dean and 
pro-\ice-1.hancellor. He was fellow and senior tutor of Pembroke College 
(1988-95), and is Jn Honorary Fellow of St Peter's College. Oxford, 
from where he graduated in 19HII, and ofKeble College, Oxford from 
20! 16. Profosmr East\vood ,vas made a.n Honorary D. Litt of the Un.iversitv 
of the West of England in 20112 and the University of East Anglia in 21l06. 

Professor Sir lvor Crewe 

lvor Crewe (61) was Jppomted Vice-Chancellor of the University 
of Essex in 1995, having first joined the University as a lecturer in 
Gm·ernment in 1971. He sen·ed as President ofUnivenitie1, UK from 
2003 to 21105 and remains a member of UUK's board and executive 
committec:. He is a board member of the Universitil!s and Colleges 
Employers' Association and oftht' Leadership Foundation for Higher 
EducJtion. He:- wa.., appointed J director of USS in April �0116. 

U IVF.R\l l It\ \Ul'ERAN UAl lllN \CIIEME 

COMMITTEE REPORT S 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

The mJnagement committee submits its thirty-second annual report on the progress of USS. 

Separate reports on the activities of the other main committees of USS follow this report. 

Committee member� 
There were two changes in membership of the committee during the year. Mr Steve Egan 

ceased to be the Funding Councils' appointed director of the trustee company on 31 December 

2006 and was succeeded by Professor David Eastwood. Mr Michael Potts retired on 31 March 

2007 and was succeeded as a Universities UK appointed director by Mr David McDonnell on 

1 April 2007. 

Under the articles of association of Universities Superannuation Scheme Ltd (the trustee company), 

the management committee comprises the trustee company's board of directors. Four of the 

directors on the board of the trustee company are appointed by Universities UK (UUK); three 

are appointed by the University and College Union (UCU), of whom at least one must be a 

USS pensioner member; one is appointed by the Funding Councils; and a minimum of two and 

a maximum of four directors are co-opted directors appointed by the management committee. 

UUK, UCU and the Funding Councils have the power to remove their respective appointed 

directors. The articles of association also provide for the removal of any director where (in 

relevant circumstances) he or she is prohibited from acting as a director. 

The co-opted directors are appointed with the prior approval of the joint negotiating committee 

and are independent. The approval of that committee is not, however, required for the reappointment 

of a co-opted director on the expiry of his or her period of office. Trustee company directors 

normally serve a three-year term but are eligible for reappointment. The management committee 

has decided that co-opted directors serve for a maximum of three three-year terms, with the 

option of it considering a further three-year term in exceptional circumstances (which would 

then be recorded in this report). 

On appointment. all directors receive detailed information from the company secretary relating 

to the trustee company, the scheme and their duties. Copies of all scheme documents are held at 

the trustee company's registered office and are available for inspection by the directors. They visit 

the registered office in Liverpool and the investment office in London where they take part in an 

induction programme and receive information on the company and the role they are expected 

to undertJke. They meet key members of the management teams in their respective offices. 

Directors are invited to attend an appropriate trustee training course initially and a follow-up 

course approximately 18 months !Jeer, and receive periodic updates on their responsibilities and 

current developments, legal or otherwise, from the trustee company's advisers. They are also 

encouraged to attend appropriate conferences, seminars and professional presentations. 

Pcrfi:)rm,mcc l'\·,1h1.1tion 
During the year consideration was given to the extent to which an independent third party 

might be able to assist in evaluating the performance of the board and its principal sub-committees. 

Following a selection process the management committee appointed Independent Audit Ltd to 

carry out this evaluation and it is due to present its report to the mJnagement committee in 

September 2007. 

Trmtcc kno\\'kdgt' and undl.:'P,tanding 

The requirements of the Pensions Act 2004 relating to trustee knowledge and understanding 

came into force on 6 April 2006, together with the Pensions Regulator's accompanying code of 
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UN!v!RSIIIIS SUPERANNUATION '>l'IILMF 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

practice. The chairman of each principal committee produced a skills requirement profile for 

their committee and each committee member has used a self-assessment questionnaire. 

produced by Mercer Human Resource Consulting, to identify their level of relevant knowledge 

and understanding. The results of the questionnaires were assessed against the skills requirement 

profile for each committee and each committee chairman has been provided with an analysis of 

the level of knowledge and understanding of members of their committee. W here appropriate, 

training sessions will be arranged for individuals or groups of committee members to bridge any 

identified gaps. 

RL·,ponsibilities of the nun.1gement and thl' executi\"L' 

The trustee company and the scheme are controlled through the management committee (the 

trustee company's board of directors) which meets at least five times a year. The management 

committee's main roles are to ensure that the scheme is adequately funded, that its standards of 

administration are at a level with which the members and participating employers are content, 

that the scheme's investment policy is appropriate for the scheme's liabilities and that the scheme 

continues to meet the developing needs of the UK higher education sector. 

The specific responsibilities reserved to the management committee include: determining the 

investment policy and investment management structure of the fund; setting long term strategy 

and approving an annual budget for the trustee company; reviewing investment, operational and 

Mark Shawyer, IT Business Systems 

and Shelagh O'Grady, Fund Accountant. 

financial performance; approving scheme 

mergers and major capital expenditure; 

reviewing the organisation's systems of 

financial control and risk management; 

ensuring that appropriate management 

development and succession plans are in 

place; approving the appointment of 

independent directors (subject, on initial 

appointment, also to the approval of the 

joint negotiating committee), members 

of sub-committees of the nunagement 

committee and senior management; 

approving staff remuneration policy; 

approving amendments to the scheme 

rules (subject also to the approval of the 

joint negotiating committee); the admission of new institutions and removal of existing 

institutions; determining policy on the treatment of participating employers who leave the 

scheme; determining the schedule of contributions; determining interest rates to be charged or 

paid in specific circumstances and compromising claims in excess of £50,000 (up to £200,000, 

above which funding council approval would also be required). 

The management committee has delegated the following respomibilities to the chief executive 

and the otiicers of the trustee company: managing the trustee company against plans and 

budgets; stock selection and asset allocation decisions (within bands approved by the 

management committee); the development and recommendation of strategic plans for 

consideration by the management committee; implementation of strategies and policies 

established by the management committee and exercise of trustee company discretion in the 

determination and payment of benefits. Day-to-day investment decisions are the responsibility 

of the chief investment officer, reporting to the investment committee. 
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UNIVIcR,Irlf', SUPERANNUATION S("IltMr. 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

The roles of the chairrn,m. the chief executin: ctnd the chief i1m,·stment officer 

The chairman leads the management committee in the determination of its strategy and in the 

achievement of its objectives. The chairman is responsible for organising the business of the 

management committee, ensuring its effectiveness and setting its agenda. The chairman has no 

involvement in the day-to-day business of the organisation. The chairman facilitates the effective 

contribution of each of the directors and promotes constructive relations between the directors 

and the officers of the trustee company to ensure that directors receive accurate, timely and clear 

information and that there is adequate communication with the scheme's stakeholders. 

The chief executive has direct charge of the organisation on a day-to-day basis and is 

accountable to the management committee for the effective running of the trustee company and 

the provision of services to the institutions and membership of USS. 

The chief investment officer is responsible for the investment performance of the internally 

managed fund and for monitoring the performance of the external investment managers and 

reporting on these matters to the investment committee. 

Committee 111<:etings 

The number of foll management committee meetings and other committee meetings attended by 

each director during the year are shown belmv. Figures in brackets indicate the maximum number 

of meetings in the period in which the individual was a member of the relevant committee. 

Sir Martin Harris 

Professor John Bull 

Michael Butcher 

Sir h·or Crewe 

David Eastwood 

Steve Egan 

Dave Guppy 

Virginia Holmes 

Howard Jacobs 

Lady Merrison 

Michael Potts 

Professor 
Charles Sutcliffe 

Baroness Warwick 

7 (7) 

7 (7) 

7 (7) 

5 (7) 

2 (2) 

4 (5) 

6 (7) 

7 (7) 

6 (7) 

7 (7) 

7 (7) 

7 (7) 

7 (7) 

5 (5) 

5 (5) 

5 (5) 

4 (5) 

5 (5) 

5 (5) 

4 (5) 

4 (5) 

4 (5) 

5 (5) 

5 (5) 

4 (5) 

* ThL' nomin,1tiom committee did not lllL'L't during thL' yL',lr.

4 (4) 

4 (4) 

4 (4) 

4 (4) 

4 (4) 

3 (3) 

2 (3) 4 (4) 

3 (3) 

3 (3) 

2 (3) 

Regular reports and papers are circulated to committee members in a timely manner in preparation 

for all committee meetings. These papers are supplemented by information specifically requested 

by committee members from time to time. The management committee papers include the 

minutes of the meetings of all the principal committees of USS. 
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UN I V E R 'i I f I L S S L" P E R A N N U A I I O N 'i C H E M E 

COMMITTEE RE PORT S 

Imtitutiom 

At 31 Mar-11 2007 there were 391 institutions which had become member institutions by 

completing a deed of accession. They comprised all the 'old' UK universities (ie those established 

prior to 1992), including the constituent schools and colleges of the universities of London and 

Wales, colleges of the universities of Oxford and Cambridge and 251 other institutions. 

Changes in institutions participating occurred as follows: 

New participating institutions: 

Cambridge University Technical Services 

Care Co-Ordination Network UK* 

Centre For Advanced Software Tech Ltd 

Crescent Purchasing Ltd 

Equality Challenge Unit 

JBS Executive Education Ltd 

JISC Content Procurement Company 

The Sainsbury Centre For Ment:tl Health 

UCL Bio Medica Plc* 

University And College Union 

University Of Gloucestershire* 

University Of Northampton 

The Nuffield Health & Social Services Fund 

The Oxford Colleges Admissions Office 

The English Association 

Sarah Lawrence at Oxford 

Nuinto Limited* 

* denotes Jll institution admitted only for employees who had been members of USS whilst in a previous employment.

Institutions which ceased to participate: 

The Association of University Teachers 

University College Northampton 

Scheme membership 

During the year 19,403 new members joined the scheme and at 31 March 2007 the total 

membership, including pensioners and those entitled to deterred benefits, was 239, 1 ()() 

compared with 226,400 a year earlier. Further details of the changes in membership during the 

year are contained in the section "Membership Statistics" on page 44 and over the five years 

ended 31 March 2007 in the Summary on page 73. 

The proportion of eligible new employees of participating institutions choosing not to join USS 

was 15% compared with 17% last year. 

Members continue to be able to share pension scheme benefits with their ex-spouse in the event 

of divorce. Since pension sharing began on 1 December 2000 there have been 3,655 requests 

for information up to 31 March 2007 and 298 ex-spouses now have benefits within the scheme 

in their own right as a result of pension sharing. 

Exp,1mion ,md flexibility 

A number of enquiries have been received during the year regarding a potential merger with 

USS under the trustee company's expansion policy - this follows the introduction of revised 

arrangements which were communicated to institutions in March 2006. During the year no 

actual mergers were completed, however a number of applications were progressed and it is 

anticipated that some mergers will proceed through to completion during 2007 /08. 

With regard to flexibility, the sector continues to proceed with implementation of the pay 

framework agreement which has pension implications in that employees are (in a number of 

cases) redesignated into USS eligible posts where formerly they were in employment subject to 

an institution's support staff pension arrangements. The trustee company has confirmed that it 
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is willing, subject to the agreement of the institution, to permit such members to choose 

whether they wish to become members of USS or remain in their existing pension 

arrangement. The trustee company believes that this flexibility is helpfol to institutions during 

the implementation of the framework agreement, and will continue to support institutions as 

they assess the pension implications of the redesignation of posts. 

The gonTnment"s pemions rdL)rm 

The government has continued to develop and implement significant reforms to the pensions 

land ·cape, most notably the reforms to the taxation rules governing pension schemes which came 

into force on 6 April 2006 (known as A-day). The A-day changes involve an extensive simplification 

of the tax legislation, although 

it will perhaps be some time 

before USS sees the benefits of 

the new arrangements. There 

has been much activity during 

the year in dealing with the 

implementation issues arising 

from A-day. and the trustee 

company has considered and 

agreed a series of 'second 

order' changes - the priority 

issues having been decided 

before April 201 )6 - which 

have been duly implemented. 

Andy Hale and Carol Bradshaw, Pensions Supervisors. 

The activity on A-day issues is not complete as a number of matter, of practical importance 

remain, and importantly Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs is committed to reviewing some 

of these elements of the reforms during 2007. 

During the year the government has unveiled its proposals for reform of the state pens10n 

scheme which, amongst other things, involves the changing of the state pension age from age 

65 to (in certain cases) age 68, and with changes to the Second State Pension. The government 

has also announced proposals for the introduction of a new National Pension Savings Scheme 

based around Personal Accounts, a new provision to encourage pension saving (planned for 

2012). All of these developments are of importance for the trustee company, in particular to 

understand the way a good occupational pension scheme such as USS will interact with these 

new arrangements (and how employers and members will be affected). The trustee company 

will continue to monitor developments closely. 

Finally, during the year the trustee company has received its first risk-based levy under the 

Pension Protection Fund (PPF). The earlier representations to the PPF on the structure of the 

risk-based levy for multi-employer pension schemes has been valuable in securing an improved 

outcome for the scheme, and USS institutions have played their part by reducing their Dun and 

Bradstreet "failure scores". The trustee company will continue to engage with the PPF in the 

coming year to try to ensure that the levy reflects, as far as possible, the likelihood of USS 

making a claim on the PPE 

Rule amendments 

During the year rule changes were considered by the committee which resulted in five 

amending deeds being executed. Details of the ruh: amendments are given in the report of the 

joint negotiating committee on page 28. 
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Working parties 

The R£;r;11lar a11d Irregular E111ploy111C11t ff i1rki11g Party 

The Regular and Irregular Employment Working Party (a working party of the Joint 

Negotiating Committee) has continued to meet during the year to consider issues for members 

in variable time employment and in multiple employment under USS, and a report on its 

progress is included in the separate report for the JNC. 

Pemion increases 

Section 15 of the USS rules provides that pensions in payment, deterred pensions and deferred 

lump sums payable from the main section shall be increased in a similar manner to the increases 

provided for official pensions under the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971 (although increases on the 

amount of pension which represents the G uaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) are treated 

differently - see below). USS pensions were increased by 2.7 'Y., on 21 April '.!.006. 

On 21 April '.!.007 USS pensions which satisfied certain qualifying conditions and began before 

25 April 2006 were increased by 3.6% with smaller increases applying for pensions which began 

after that date. Deterred pensions and deterred lump sums were increased by the same rate. 

That part of the pension payable from the main section of USS which represents the pre-1988 

guaranteed minimum pension (GMP) is generally not increased by USS as increases are paid by 

the Department for Work and Pensions, as are increases in excess of 3';(, on that part of the 

pension which represents the post-1988 GMP. More detail on the way in which increases are 

applied to the GMP is given in the USS booklet 'H1y111rnt tf Rctirc111c11t Bcn�fits' which is issued 

to all USS pensioners and can be found on the USS website at www.usshq.co.uk 

Section 15 also provides that pensions payable from the supplementary section shall be increased 

to the extent that the trustee company, acting on actuarial advice, decides. As a result, pensions 

arising from the supplementary section were increased at the same rate as those that applied to 

the main section. 

Contribution rates 

The rates of contributions payable by members and institutions between 1 April 2006 ,md 

31 March 2007 \\'ere as follows, unchanged from the previous year: 

USS Main Section 

USS Supplementary Section 

Actuari;1( m,1ttcrs 

Member 

Institution 

Member 

Institution 

6'!{, of salary 

1-l'Y., of salary 

0.35% of salary 

Nil 

The actuary carries out a full actuarial valuation of the scheme every three years, with the next 

such valuation to take place as at 31 March 2008. In the period between the triennial valuations 

he provides quarterly estimates of the funding level of the scheme to the trustee company. These 

estimates of the funding level of the scheme are based on the same member data as is used in 

the triennial actuarial valuations, but take account of changes in the interest rates and actual 

investment performance since the date of the last tr iennial valuation. 

As at 31 March 2007, the actuary estimated that the funding level was 91 ''{,, ie the assets in the 

fond amounted to 91 °,{, of the estimated liabilities. This was an improvement in the funding level 

of 77% reported at the last triennial valuation as at 31 March 2005. The improvement in the 

position is mainly due to the investment return on the scheme's assets since 31 March 2005 

being higher than that specified in the funding assumptions. 
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In addition to the funding basis that the scheme uses for its triennial valuations, the actuary also 

calculates the USS funding position on a number of other bases. The most common basis, used 

for other occupational pension schemes in the UK for accounting purposes, is as specified in 

FRS 17. On this basis, the actuary estimated that the funding level at 31 March 2( H )7 was 109%. 

As was reported last year, the management committee undertook a review of the funding of the 

scheme during 2006, in consultation with the participating employers, to determine whether an 

increase in contributions should be made in advance of the next valuation at 31 March 2008. 

As a result of this review, the trustee company introduced a charge, payable by the employers, 

to cover the cost of providing unreduced benefits on retirement below the age of 6(). The 

actuary has estimated that this charge should have the effect of improving the scheme funding 

level by approximately 3% and easing the demand on the future service contribution rate by 

approximately 2% (which will be used to address the increasing funding pressures from improving 

longevity and higher than anticipated salary increases within the sector). 

The consultation exercise with the employers also indicated broad support for an increase in the 

retirement age for future entrants to the scheme to 65. This would bring USS into line with 

other schemes and is in line with government policy on increasing retirement ages in the light 

of continued improvements in longevity. A rule change to put this into effect is being considered 

by the USS joint negotiating committee. Following the review, and acting on actuarial advice, 

the trustee company decided not to increase contributions in advance of the 2008 valuation but 

will review the contribution rate again following consideration of the results of that valuation. 

A more detailed statement by the man::igement committee on the scheme's funding position is 

published at page 32. The statement is published following full discussion with, and with the 

approval o( the scheme actuary. 

The financial statements of the scheme for the year ended 31 March 2007 are set out on pages 

57 to 65; and the auditors' statement about contributions and trustee's summary of contributions 

are set out on pages 67 and 70. The financial statements have been prepared and audited in 

accordance with Sections 41 (1) and (6) of the Pensions Act 1995. 

The accounts of Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited (the trustee company) are set out 

on pages 7-l to 88 and show an increase in operating costs from £32.5 million in 2005/2006 to 

£38.1 million in 2006/2007. This represents a 9'Y., increase in administration costs (mainly due 

to an increase in the PPF levy) and a 22% increase in investment management costs (mainly due 

to unbundling of brokers' costs resulting in their appearing in the trustee company's accounts for 

the first time). 

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy was paid for the first time during 2005/06. The 

increase this year is partly due to the increase in the number of members in USS but mainly 

results from the increase in the levy rate calculated by the PPF (and its new risk-based 

calculations). Increased staffing, in line with the demanding systems development workload 

being undertaken in Liverpool, has also contributed to the increase in costs. 

The unbundling of stockbrokers' commissions is not, in fact, a real increase in costs as these costs 

were previously included in the book cost of the fund's assets in the USS financial statements. 

The move to paying for research separately makes the cost of running the fund more transparent 

and is likely to reduce costs to the fund overall. 
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Excluding the PPF levies and the unbundling of stockbrokers' commissions, total costs fell by 

approximately 1 % - administration costs increasing by 4% and investment management costs 

falling by 4%. 

Further details regarding the operating costs and a review of the activities for the year are given 

in the Directors' R eport & Accounts on page 74. 

Inwstment policy 

The arrangements for management and custody of the assets, together with the approximate 

proportion managed by each manager at 31 March 2007, were as follows: 

(a) 67.8% was managed internally by the trustee company's London Investment Office (withJP

Morgan as custodian), of which 60.5% were securities (or alternative investments or cash)

and 7.3% were property assets. The internally managed fund has a balanced mandate;

(b) 9.3% was managed by Capital International Limited (with ABN AMRO Mellon as

custodian) with a global equity mandate;

(c) 9.2';[, was managed by Wellington Management Company (with ABN AMRO Mellon as

custodian) \Vith a global equity mandate;

(d) 13.7% was administered internally on the advice of HSBC J ames Capel Quantitative

Techniques with a mandate to track the FTSE All-Share Index of UK equities (with JP

Morgan as custodian);

During the year a review of the position of custodian to the fund was carried out. It was decided 

that it was prudent to retain two custodians, one for the assets managed internally and one for 

the assets managed by the external managers. JP Morgan was retained as custodian for the 

internally managed fund but it was decided to appoint ABN AMRO Mellon to replace State 

Street, in February 2007, as custodian for the assets managed externally. 

The year to 31 December 2006 was another good year for pension fund performance generally, 

with positive returns for the average fund for the fourth consecutive year. However, the fund's 

return of 9. 9% fell short of its benchmark return of 12.2%. Further details of the investment 

t:irgds, investment paformance and amounts managed by each manager are given in the report 

of the investment committee. 

Corporate governance 

The directors of the trustee company continue to acknowledge their responsibility for ensuring 

that the company has in place appropriate systems of internal control which are designed to give 

reasonable assurance that: 

• financial information used within the scheme or for publication is reliable and that proper

accounting records are maintained;

• assets are safeguarded against unauthorised use or disposition;

• the trustee company and the scheme are being operated e fficiently and effectively;

• relevant legislation is complied with;

• appropriate risk management systems are in place.

However, any system of internal control can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 

against material misstatement or loss and cannot eliminate business risk. 

The management committee receives reports, generally on a quarterly basis, from the other 

main committees: the finance & general purposes committee, the investment committee. the 
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audit committee, the remuneration committee, the rules committee, the joint negotiatmg 

committee and the advisory committee. The functions of these committees are set out in the 

reports which follow this report. 

Internal audit within the trustee company now comprises the head of internal audit and two 

full-time assistants. It reviews the operation of the internal control systems affecting the trustee 

company and the scheme and where relevant at external suppliers. Each year the head of internal 

audit, in conjunction with senior management, carries out a formal evaluation of the risks facing 

the organisation and the audit programme is determined in the light of this evaluation. T he chief 

executive's senior management team considers regular reports from the head of internal audit 

and reviews the risk management and control process to consider whether any changes to 

internal controls, or responses to changes in the levels of risk, are required. Any weaknesses 

identified in these reviews are discussed with management and an action plan is agreed to address 

them. Through regular reports by the head of internal audit, the audit committee monitors the 

operation of the internal controls in force and any perceived gaps in the control environment. 

The directors confirm that they have established internal control procedures such that they comply 

with the Turnbull Guidance in the Combined Code on Corporate Governance where relevant. 

The management committee, through its audit committee, has reviewed the effectiveness of the 

process for identifying, evaluating and managing the key risks affecting the scheme. 

Administration 

The service provided to members and institutions continues to be monitored each quarter. All 

statutory and internal targets have been met satisfactorily. 

The annual meeting with institutions' representatives took place in London in December 2006 

with a report of the proceedings available on the USS website. 

HR Team: Emma Mason, Linda Lee 

and Jo Cunliffe (seated). 

The trustee company reviews its activities regularly in 

conjunction with its advisers to ensure that the scheme 

remains fully compliant with all relevant legislation and 

other requirements. 

During the year there was one instance of late payment of 

contributions (of less than £2,000) by an institution. This 

occurred as a result of an administrative problem by the 

institution concerned and the contributions were 

subsequently remitted in full. There was no requirement 

to report this to the Pensions R egulator. 

Member AVC contributions to the Prudential are no 

longer included in the schedule of contributions. 

However, the trustee company has stated that it will 

report institutions to the Pensions R egulator where their 

payments of AVCs to the Prudential are consistently late. 

No such reports were made during the year. 

Dispute resolution procedures within USS Ltd provide for the pensions operations manager, on 

the application of a complainant, to give a decision on a dispute and for the trustees or managers, 

on the application of the complainant if they are unhappy about that decision, to review the 

matter in question and either confirm or alter the decision. The review is undertaken by the 
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advisory committee, augmented for this purpose alone by two members of the management 
committee (one nominated by UUK and the other by UCU). The augmented advisory committee 
met on three occasions to consider the decisions given by the pensions operations manager at 
stage one of the internal dispute resolution procedure. Five cases were considered and the stage 
one decision taken by the pensions operations manager was upheld in three cases. In the two 

Terry Raby and Gill Howard, Internal Audit. 

other cases the augmented advisory committee did 
not uphold the stage one decision and used its wider 
powers to make a recommendation for an award to 
be granted. 

Since the statutory prohibition in April 1988 of 
compulsory membership of occupational pension 
schemes as a condition of employment, contained in 
Se ·tion 160 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993, 
around one sixth of employees eligible to join USS 
have elected not to do so, which means that they 
will either be participating in State Second Pension 

or have a personal or stakeholder pension, or a combination of these arrangements. It should be 
noted that the rules of USS prevent an institution from paying contributions (in respect of an 
"'eligible employee" under the rules) to a pension arrangement other than USS. 

During the year staff from across the company have worked with Civica, the administration sofrware 
provider, to configure the new processes and calculations and denc-lop the new functionality for 
the upgrade of our systems to the new UPM2 application. Implementation is scheduled for early 
2008 and will provide greater flexibility for the trustee company and reduce our reliance on 
external suppliers. The upgrade to UPM2 provides an opportunity to enhance our award \Vinning 
web site to include functionality for processes to be carried out on-line. During the coming year 
we will be working with members and users at the institutions to understand how we can 
maximise use of the technology available to improve service levels and data quality while, at the 
same time, reducing operational costs both at the trustee company and institutions. Work will begin 
early in 2008 to develop the new web site before releasing the initial phases later in the year. 

Retirement age for deterred members 

In accordance with the Court Order first reported in 2004, we continued the exercise of 
identifying which former members of the scheme who had retired or transferred their benefits 
out of USS would be entitled to an additional payment because their contractual pension age 
was less than 65. We also updated our records to show the earliest date that current deferred 
pensioners in the scheme could draw their benefits without actuarial reduction in accordance 
with the contractual pension age advised by their former USS employers. 

The benefits relating to members affected by the Court Order were recalculated for pensioners, 
private transfers-out, deferred and deceased members. Transfers to schemes that participate in 
the Public Sector Transfer Club were progressed as soon as we received the agreement from the 
Cabinet Office on a proposed administration charge which the club schemes required before 
they would ac -epr the revised transfer payments. 

The total sum paid out under this exercise by way of additional benefits as at 31 March 2007 
has been included in the financial statements of USS. 

This exercise is largely complete although it is likely that some further adjustments to benefits 
may be made in future if an entitlement can be established. 
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Communications 
The programme of member presentations included 34 institution visits, attended by approximately 
4,400 members. The number of members attending during the year remained higher than usual 
due mainly to interest in the A-day changes from April 2006. 

The website has been developed throughout the year seeing improvements in the capabilities of 
the modellers and the inclusion of a new 'Tax Optimisation' calculator to help members make the 
most efficient use of tax relief when considering large payments to the USS AVC facilities. 

The institution advisory panels, comprising representatives from 24 of the largest institutions, met 
four times during the year. A variety of topics were discussed including the inc:ipacitv retirement 
process review, ePensions strategy, imminent rule changes, PRT interest and recycling of retirement 
lump sums. 

Training seminars for institution staff continue to be popular, attracting staff who are new to 
pensions and others who welcome the opportunity to update their pensions knowledge. The 
programme of seminar dates for the next 12 months can be found on the USS website. Several 
workshops were held during the year for 
institution contacts as part of the consultation 
exercise relating to the foture funding of USS and 
on the proposal to introduce flexible retirement. 

Further Pensions T V  programmes have been 
added to the website including a programme 

for members considering a transfer of benefits 
to USS, another aimed at members from overseas 
working in the UK and one that explains what 
happens when a member leaves USS. 

The agreement wirh Prudential to administer 
the money purchase AVC facility, which they 
have done since 1993 when theY were 
appointed, was reviewed during the year. The 
scheme actuary compared the performance of 
the AVC funds available to USS members with 
those available from other providers and 
reported that Prudential 's performance was 
satisfactory. As a result it was decided to maintain 
the existing arrangement with the Prudential 
but with the addition of a new lifestyle fimd 
option. We continue to work closely with 

Delegates attending the annual 

USS Institutions' Meeting, 

London - 7 December 2006. 

Prudential to ensure that our members have the opportunity to receive foll information on both 
the added years and money purchase AVC options. During the year we have reviewed taped 
recordings of individual meetings held between members and Prudential representatives, 
provided training to Prudential staff regarding scheme developments and agreed a form of words 
to be used by Prudential call centre staff when speaking to members about their options. 

Disclosure requirements 
The general rights which members and beneficiaries have always enjoyed to request information 
under trust law have been greatly supplemented by statutory disclosure requirements which 
apply under the Occupational Pension Schemes (Disclosure of Information) Regulations 1996. 

17 



UNIVERSITIES SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

C OMMIT E E  R EP ORT S 

W here the requirement is for a document to be available for reference by an interested person, 

it is met by providing each institution with access to a complete library of publications via the 

scheme's website. Other information, for example A Guide for USS JHembers, must be provided 

to every new member and supplies are available from our Liverpool office to enable institutions 

to issue them as part of their appointment procedures. Individual statements are required on the 

occurrence of certain events such as leaving service, retirement or death and these are provided 

by our Liverpool office as part of the processing of such benefits. 

Enquiries about the scheme generally or about an individual's entitlement should be sent to the 

trustee company's registered office. 

Transfer values paid during the year were determined in accordance with the Pension Schemes 

Act 1993 and appropriate regulations. No transfer values paid represented less than their full cash 

equivalent. 

USS has had no employer-related investments during the year. 

Ac kntlwledgements 

The chairman would like to thank Mr Egan and Mr Potts for their contribution to USS matters 

during their terms of office on the committee. 

The management committee also wishes to record once again its appreciation of the services 

given by all those who are concerned with the administration and management of USS, 

including the staff of the trustee company in Liverpool and London and the officers of the 

institutions which participate in the scheme. It wishes also to thank the various USS consultants 

and advisers who, by their specialist knowledge and experience, make a valuable contribution 

to the work of the trustee company. 

Signed on behalf of the management committee. 

Sir Martin Harris 

Chairman 
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 

The investment committee advises the trustee company on all matters relating to the investment 

of the fund's assets. Throughout the report, performance returns relate to calendar years, which 

is the investment industry standard. 

Highlights 

• Stock markets were strong for the fourth year running in 2006 with the fund returning 9.9%

compared with 24% in 2005 and 8.9% in 2004. Thi_ was a disappointing return against the

fund's benchmark of 12.2%. The ren year returns on the fund stand at 7.8% per annum

compared with the benchmark of 8.9% per annum. Including net cash flow and capital

movements, the value of the investments in the fund rose from £28.2 billion at 31 March

2006 to £30 .1 billion at 31 March 2007.

• The fund's diversification into alternative investments 1s progressmg well following the

review of investment policy referred to in last year's report. The alternative assets portfolio

accounted for 2.3% of total investments as at 30 June 2007, with an equivalent reduction in

equity holdings, and is on track to achieve its target of 5% by 31 March 2008. Consideration

will be given to increasing this to 20% over the medium term.

• The fund has reviewed its commission arrangements with brokers such that it now pays

directly for the majority of its research and pays separately for dealing commissions on share

transactions. This has led to estimated savings of some £5 million in total costs for the fund

in the year ended 31 March 2007.

• The fund continues to play a leading role in responsible investing in the UK and overseas and

has recently increased its resource to a team of four to support its activity in this area.

Investment management 

The fund's investments are divided 

between those under the direct control of 

USS Ltd and those managed externally. 

The internal investment team at the 

London Investment Office (LIO) manages 

the majority of the assets. A separate fund 

designed to match the performance of the 

FTSE All Share index is run in-house on 

advice provided by HSBC Quantitative 

Techniques. In alternative asset classes we 

employ a number of external managers and 

funds who are selected and monitored by 

the LIO. The balance of the fund is run 

on specialist mandates, with Capital 

International and Wellington having a 
Grand Arcade, Cambridge. 

global equity remit. Both these managers are rewarded partly on an ad valorem basis and partly on 

their performance. As mentioned in last year's report, the specialist mandate with Goldman Sachs 

was terminated in March 2006 and those with Legal & General and Henderson in June 2006. 

Jones Lang La Salle and DTZ advise on investment and property management of the retail and 

commercial portions of the property portfolio respectively. F or these services they are 

remunerated primarily through a management fee and in some cases they may benefit from 

transaction tees. 
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TOTAL INVESTMENTS OF THE FUND 

The investments are stated at market value. Details of the values and changes are summarised in 

note 9 of the USS accounts on page 62. 

Internally managed 

Fund manager 

London 

ln\'esrn1enr Office 

UK equities 

Overseas equities 

UK fixed interest 

Overseas 

fixed interest 

Pooled investment, 

- securities 

Pooled investments 

- property

Active 

£111 

6,589.1 

8.935.3 

253.1 

1,431.7 

11)5.2

I ,II I I.II 

Direct property I, 162.6 

Cash and equivalent I 911. 1 

Other investment 

balances 

Total 2007 

Total 20116 

220.J

20,398.4 

18,036.4 

Alternati\'e in\'estments 

P�t�sivc 

£111 

-1,119-1.3 

11.-1 

31.1 

4,127.0 

3,-119.7 

Externally managed 

Capital Legal & 

Internacional Wellington Henderson General 

Active Acciw PJssivc Acti\'e 

£111 £111 £111 £111 

366.9 192.8 

2,1-111.5 2,516.0 

226.5 

37.-1 311.9 

15.2 1.2.6 

2,786.5 2,752.3 

2,676.4 2,714.9 323.6 1,075.0 

Total 

31 March 

2007 

£m 

11,243.1 

13,591.8 

253.1 

1,931.7 

332.1 

1,011.0 

1,162.6 

259.6 

279.2 

30,064.2 

Total 

31 March 

2006 

£m 

10,197.2 

13,039.0 

1,127.-1 

799.6 

610.0 

1.01-1.1 

1,0-12.3 

300.1 

116.3 

.28,2-16.11 

Included within the above are £584.8m (2006: £255.0m) of alternative assets, representing 

1.95% of total investments. These are classed within UK equities (£63m), overseas equities 

(£416.4m), overseas fixed interest (£13m), pooled investments securities (£9l.6m) and cash 

(£0.8m) and are further analysed below: 

Infrastructure 

Private equity - funds 

l'riv.lte equity - direct 

Other 

Total 
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31 March 

2007 

£111 

-128.6 

59.8 

-17.7 

-18.7 

584.8 
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USS investment perform,mce results 

The performance of the various fond managers for the year to 31 December 2006 is shown below: 

% Fund % Benchmark 

Return Return 

LIO (including alternatives) 8.3 10.6 

Capital International 8.9 8.9 

Wellington 5-5 8.9 

UK Index 16-7 16.8 

Property 15.8 18.5 

Total Fund 9.9 12.2 

Included within total fund pertormance for the year are the Goldman Sachs, Legal & General 

and Henderson Enhanced Index portfolios, whose mandates as already mentioned, were terminated 

during 2( )06. Their underperformance against benchmark and the associated costs of transition 

and the restrictions placed on dealing during that period contributed to the fund's total 

underpertormance. However the majority of the fund's underpertormance arose primarily in 

overseas equities and property. Conversely performance in fixed income and UK equities was 

strong whilst asset allocation was broadly neutral. The fledgling alternatives portfolio also 

generated positive returns against benchmark. 

Poor stock selection at the London Investment Office was the primary reason for the fund's 

disappointing overseas equity returns, furthermore the external manager's di tinct style has also 

been out of favour and this has detracted from pertormance. Currency movements also contributed 

to the fund's underpe1iormance and the investment committee has recommended that the fund 

move to a currency hedged equity position, which will limit volatility from currency movements 

against sterling in foture. 

The fund has also undertaken a major restructuring of its property portfolio. This has included 

sales of its units in Gyle Shopping Centre Unit Trust; the shopping centre development at Leeds 

and very recently, in June 2007, its units in Telford Shopping Centre Unit Trust. These three 

holdings accounted for 36% of the total property portfolio as at 1 April 2006. The frmd is 

actively investing in new properties as attractive investments are identified, and a positive return 

against benchmark is expected from this area moving forward. 

As at 31 March 2007 the fund's asset allocation against benchmark was the following: 

Actual Benchmark 

% % 

UK equities 38 40 

Overseas equities 46 40 

Fixed interest 7 10 

Property 7 10 

Cash and other 2 

Total 100 100 

Included within the above are £584.8111 (2006: £255.0m) of alternative assets, representing 

1. 95% of total investments.
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DISTRIBUTION OF ASSETS 

The portfolio distribution as at 31 March 2007, along with the comparative figures for the 

preceding year, is set out below: 

UK fixed interest 

British Government 
Conventional 

Other debentures & loan stocks 

Overseas fixed interest 

North America 
Europe 
Japan 
Far East 

Other 

Total fixed interest 

UK equities 

Resources 
Basic industries 

General industrials 
Consumer goods 

S ervices 
U tilities 
Information technology 
Financials 
Collective investment schemes 

Managed funds 

Overseas equities 

America 
Japan 
Europe 
Far East 
Other 

Total equities 

Total securities 

Property (incl. indirect property) 

Cash deposits 

Other investment balances 

Total investments 

£m 

250.4 
2.7 

489.7 
851.8 
490.1 
100.1 

1,487.8 
973.7 
844.7 

1,053.1 
3,049.9 

487.6 
159.6 

3,186.7 
5.7 

35.1 

3,426.0 
2,548.4 
4,815.5 
2,700.5 

392.7 
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2007 

£m 

253.1 

1,931.7 

2,184.8 

11,283.9 

13,883.1 

25,167.0 

27,351.8 
2,173.6 

259.6 
279.2 

30,064.2 

% 

0.9 

6.4 

7.3 

37.5 

46.2 

83.7 

91.0 
7.2 
0.9 
0.9 

100.0 

£m 

144.7 
982.7 

226.3 
354.9 
218.4 

1,596.1 
791.1 

871.5 

856.8 
2,747.3 

366.9 
120.8 

2,846.7 
5.7 

326.8 

3,431.6 
2,890.2 
4,065.2 
2,439.5 

490.0 

2006 

£m 

1, 127.4 

799.6 

1,927.0 

10,529.7 

13,316.5 

23,846.2 

25,773.2 
2,056.4 

300.1 
116.3 

28,246.0 

% 

4.0 

2.8 

6.8 

37.3 

47.1 

84.4 

91.2 
7.3 
1.1 
0.4 

100.0 
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Responsible investment 

USS Ltd continues to play a leading role in responsible investment (RI) in the UK and overseas. 

As in the past, the approach towards RI has again been one that focuses primarily on key 

projects, which maximises the potential impact of RI activities in creating long-term value for 

the fund. In addition, the fund has also been placing more focus on the integration of extra 

financial issues into internal 

investment decision-making. 

S ince last year's Annual Report, 

a review ofRI activities over the 

past five years was commissioned 

and completed. Based upon this 

review and other inputs, the 

fund has developed its strategy 

for the forthcoming five years. 

The principal findings of the 

review were that the market­

wide activities of the fund had 

been successful and that more 

resources should be put into 

engagement with companies 

and, particularly, the integration 

of these issues into investment 

decision-making processes within the fund. Future activity is therefore focused particularly on 

reinforcing the fund's commitment in these two areas. To help with the implementation of this, 

the fund has recruited an additional member to the RI team to support voting, integration and 

engagement activities, making a team of four. 

The fund continues to play an active role in a number of investment relevant initiatives, covering 

climate change, US Corporate Governance, the pharmaceutical sector, executive remuneration, 

improving the provision of investment analysis, and long term investing. In addition, USS Ltd 

actively supports the UN Principles of Responsible Investment, and is represented on the board 

by a USS board member supported by the RI team. This initiative provides a framework for 

pension funds and other investors to incorporate extra-financial issues into mainstream 

investment decision-making and ownership practices. The fund continues to play an active role 

in the growth and operation of this initiative and participates in both the engagement and 

governance sub-committees of the board. 

Finally, FairPensions, the group which campaigns for the responsible investment of pension 

funds, ranked USS the best at disclosing details of the fund's RI activities amongst the largest 20 

pension fi.mds in the UK, a recognition of the resources and effort the fund puts into this area. 
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LARGEST EQUITY HOLDINGS 

A list of the fund's largest twenty equity holdings, together with the percentage of the fund which 

they represent, is shown below: 

Value 

£m % 

Royal Dutch Shell 646.0 2. 1

BP 599.6 2.0 

HSBC Hldg 588.5 2.0 

Vodafone Group 468.4 1.6 

Glaxosmithkline 456.6 1.5 

RBOS 392.5 1.3 

Astrazeneca 325.3 1.1 

Barclays 306.6 1.0 

BHP Billiton 290.8 1.0 

Rio Tinto 255.1 0.8 

Anglo American 254.5 0.8 

HBOS 238.2 0.8 

Tesco 228.5 0.8 

Lloyds TSB Group 192.8 0.6 

BG Group 165.3 0.6 

Total 157.6 0.5 

BT Group 153.7 0.5 

Diageo 153.4 0.5 

British American Tobacco 149.7 0.5 

ING Groep Certs 149.0 0.5 

6,172.1 20.5 

A list of all the fund's holdings along with corporate governance issues is available on our website: 

www.usshq.co. uk 

Signed on behalf of the investment committee 

V Holmes 

Clzair111a11 

2-1 

UNIVEllSITIES SUl'cRANNUATIUN SCHEME 

COMMITTEE REP ORT S 

FINANCE & GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 

The finance & general purposes committee was established under the authority of the management 

committee in January 1984. 

Its purpose is to consider and report to the management committee on any matters relating to 

the structure and management of USS Ltd as the corporate trustee of USS, other than those 

which have been allocated to the investment, audit, remuneration and rules committees. 

In essence, inter alia, it: 

• Undertakes detailed work on behalf of the management committee and makes

recommendations to it on major policy issues.

• Gives preliminary consideration to major issues, which it is intended should be brought to

the management committee.

• Oversees the detail of revisions to the USS Ltd risk management profile and policy and

submits annual reports to the management committee.

• Gives detailed consideration to financial estimates and performance against estimates.

• Appron:s capital expenditure with limits agreed by the management committee.

• Monitors communication with, and levels and quality of service provided to, member

institutions and individual members.

The committee members are appointed by the management committee and at 31 March 2007, 

comprised seven members. Of the committee's seven members, two are UUK appointees to the 

management committee, two are UCU appointees and three are co-opted appointees of whom 

one, Professor John Bull, is the chairman. Mr Potts retired on 31 March 2007. We thank him 

for his significant contribution as a committee member. 

During the year. the committee met on five occasions and considered matters such as the 

Prudential AVC scheme, the results of the scheme funding consultation, age discrimination, 

cross-border pension activities, expansion of USS, insolvency and withdrawal of institutions 

from USS, the admission of new institutions to USS, salary sacrifice, corporate performance of 

USS Ltd, USS Ltd's business plan and the government's pensions reform. 

Signed on behalf of the finance & general purposes committee. 

Professor John Bull 

Chair111a11 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The audit committee was established under the authority of the management committee m 

March 1982. 

Its purpose is to consider and report on any matters relating to internal control systems, financial 

reporting arrangements and corporate governance. 

In essence, it examines management's processes for ensuring the appropriateness and effectiveness 

of systems and controls and arrangements to ensure compliance with standards and arrangements 

under appropriate regulatory systems. 

In addition it: 

• R eviews the scope, planned programmes of work and findings of both the internal and

external auditors and the compliance officer.

• E nsures that the accounting and reporting policies are in line with legal requirements, Financial

Services Authority and other appropriate regulatory body requirements and best practice.

The committee members are appointed by the management committee and at 31 March 2007 

comprised five members; two are UUK appointees to the management committee, two are 

UCU appointees and one is a co-opted appointee. Dr Christine Challis retired on 30 September 

2006 and was succeeded as chairman by Mr Butcher. We are grateful to Dr Challis for her 

significant contribution to the committee's deliberations. Mr Potts retired on 31 March 2007. 

We thank him for his significant contribution as a committee member. More than one member 

of the committee possesses what the Smith R eport describes as recent and relevant experience. 

During the year. the committee met on four occasions. It has also met with the external auditor, 

the internal auditor and the compliance officer privately each on one occasion without any 

officers being present. During the year, the committee has, inter alia: 

• reviewed the accounts of both the trustee company and the scheme prior to approval by the

management committee;

• reviewed its terms of reference;

• reviewed the external auditor's strategy for the audit of the accounts of the trustee company

and the scheme;

• reviewed the internal audit function's terms of reference, its work programme and quarterly

reports on its work during the year:

• received regular reports from the compliance officer;

• overseen the selection of an independent organisation to undertake a review of the performance

of the management committee and sub-committees;

• expressed its continued satisfaction with USS Ltd's approach to identifying and dealing with

risks to its business. This includes strengthening its approach by embedding risk management

processes in its operational functions.

Signed on behalf of the audit committee. 

M Butcher 

Clzairma11 
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

The remuneration committee considers and reports on matters relating to the employment, 

remuneration and termination of contracts for employees within USS Ltd. It sets salaries, pay 

levels and performance criteria by which all staff are rewarded, with the exception of the chief 

executive and the chief investment officer. 

The salary of the chief executive is determined following discussions between the chairman of 

the remuneration committee and the chairman of the management committee. The salary of 

the chief investment officer is determined following discussions between the chairman of the 

remuneration committee, the chairman of the investment committee and the chairman of the 

management committee. 

The committee's members are appointed by and from the management committee and at 

31 March 2007 comprised five members; two are UUK appointees to the management committee, 

one is a UCU appointee and two are co-opted appointees of whom one, Mr Jacobs, is the 

chairman. Mr Potts retired on 31 March 2007 and we thank him for his significant contribution 

as a committee member. 

The committee met on three occasions during the year. Matters which have been considered 

include: 

• the committee's terms of reference;

• salary awards to employees at the Liverpool and London offices;

• the remuneration and pay scales at the London office;

• London office bonus scheme;

• employment statistics v,rithin both the Liverpool and London offices;

• reviewing the corporate risk profile document.

Signed on behalf of the remuneration committee. 

H RJacobs 

Cliairm,111 
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JOINT NEGOTIATING COMMITTEE 

The fi.mctions of the joint negotiating committee are to approve amendments to the rules 

proposed by the trustee company, to initiate or consider modifications to the rules in 

conjunction with the rules committee and to consider any alterations proposed by the advisory 

committee arising out of the operation of the rules. The joint negotiating committee also has 

powers under the Articles of Association of the trustee company and under the scheme rules in 

connection with the appointment of co-opted directors and with the remuneration of directors. 

With effect from 1 September 2006 Ms G Egan formally replaced Ms C Cheesman and with effect 

from 1 January 2007 Ms L Newman replaced Mr J Anderson ::is UCU representatives. Also with 

effect from 13 October 2006, Mr J Gordon replaced Mr C Morland as a UUK representative. 

The committee met on five occasions during the year. Rule changes were considered by the 

committee which resulted in three amending deeds being executed (the ninth to the eleventh 

supplemental amending deeds). It should also be noted that the seventh and eighth supplemental 

amending deeds were executed at the end of March 2006 but which were not included in last 

year's Report and Accounts, and for completeness the details are included in this report. 

These amending deeds introduced the following changes to the USS rules: 

• The seventh supplemental amending deed, which was executed on 16 March 2006, made

amendments to deal with the withdrawal from USS of a solvent employer, and also to position

the scheme as a "last man standing" scheme for the purposes of the Pension Protection Fund.

• The eighth supplemental amending deed, which was also executed on 16 March 2006,

brought into effect certain changes relating to the Revenue's tax simplification reforms.

• The ninth supplemental amending deed, executed on 13 September 2006, introduced provisions

to ensure that individuals cannot become members of USS if they are 'qualifying persons'

under the cross-border regulations, and also made consequential changes as a result of the

creation of the new union body, the University and College Union.

• The tenth supplemental amending deed, which was executed on 15 December 2006,

introduced further changes relating to the government's tax reforms which came into effect

on 6 April 2006.

• The eleventh supplemental amending deed, executed on 7 February 2007, confirms that

Universities UK is the representative employer for the purposes of the new scheme funding

consultation arrangements.

The committee has continued to consider the various changes necessary as a result of the 

government's tax simplification reforms, and third-order changes are set to be considered in the 

corning year (taking into account any further amendments thar the Revenue may make in this area). 

During the year the trustee company announced a series of proposals to address some of the 

emerging funding pressures which face the scheme at the present time. Two specific proposals, 

namely the standardisation of normal pension age at 65 and the introduction of flexible 

retirement, will require rule amendments, and the joint negotiating committee has begun its 

consideration of these two important changes for the scheme. 
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A further significant change which has been under consideration by the committee is the 

introduction of salary sacrifice for pension contributions. During the year a significant number 

of institutions expressed an interest in the USS rules being amended to facilitate salary sacrifice 

for pension contributions, and rule amendments have been considered and prepared, and the 

enabling provisions will be implemented during 2007. 

Finally, on the legislative front, the committee has given detailed consideration to the necessary 

changes as a result of the introduction of the Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006, 

which came into effect for pension schemes on 1 December 2006. The committee has given 

detailed consideration to the necessary amendments, and once again these are set to be 

introduced in the early part of the 2007 /08 financial year. 

The working party of the JNC dealing with employees who hold regular and variable time 

employments met on two occasions during the year, and has continued to develop solutions 

to deal effectively with members who have more than one employment (and in particular 

where one of those employments is variable time). The working party's activities will continue 

throughout 2007. 

Signed on behalf of the joint negotiating committee 

Sir Kenneth Berrill 

Chairman 
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ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

The functions of the advisory committee are to advise the trustee company on the exercise of 

its powers and discretions (other than those relating to investment matters), on difficulties in the 

implementation or application of the rules and on any complaints received from members or 

participating institutions, and any other matters on which the trustee company requires advice. 

Three meetings \\·ere held during the year. Dr Roger fulfilled the role of chairperson until 

December 2006 at which time Mr Linfoot assumed the role of chairperson. 

The majority of questions raised on the application or interpretation of the rules of USS were 

dealt with by the senior officers. There were eight cases which required detailed consideration 

by the advisory committee during the year. Six cases were related to members requesting full 

commutation of their benefits on the grounds of serious ill-health and in each case the full 

commutation was granted. Two cases related to the granting of dependant's pensions and in both 

cases a dependant's pension was granted. 

The committee received updates on other activity in USS relevant to its responsibilities, :md 

where appropriate commented, notably upon the reviews of ill-health retirement and of 

commutation. The committee reviewed the progress of cases which have proceeded to the 

Pensions Ombudsman: of 15 cases decided by the Ombudsman since 2001, 13 were not upheld 

by the Ombudsman, in one case the Ombudsman settled a compensation figure at the request 

of USS, and in one other case the Ombudsman awarded compensation. 

It was necessary for the committee, enlarged by two members of the management committee, 

to hold one additional meeting during the year to consider the decision given by the pensions 

operations manager at stage one of the internal dispute resolution procedure. The second stage 

considerations were as follows: 

• Member had complained that he had not been offered the option of an increased pension

and a reduced lump sum. The committee agreed to offer the member the opportunity to have

his benefits recalculated to put him in the position that he would have been had he chosen

an increased pension. Member was also offered an augmentarion to his benefits of £500.

• Member complained that she had been offered a partial incapacity pension when she

believed she should have been granted a total incapacity pension. The committee did not

uphold the member's complaint.

• Member had complained that her institution had not submitted an ill-health application on

her behalf even though she was ill at the point when her contract came to an end. The committee

upheld the member's complaint and she was ultimately granted an incapacity pension.

• Member had complained that her transfer-in from the NHS had not been calculated on the

preferential bulk transfer terms. The committee did not uphold the member's complaint

• Member had complained that he had not been granted an incapacity pension. The committee

did not uphold the member's complaint.

Signed on behalf of the advisory committee 

AD Linfoot 

Chairman 
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RULES COMMITTEE 

In conjunction with the officers and the scheme's professional advisers, the rules committee 

devises and maintains procedures for all aspects of the rule amendment process, having particular 

regard to the desirability of simplifying those rules which are most complex, whether in terms 

of intelligibility or of administration. 

During its fourth year the committee has overseen the Seventh to the Eleventh Supplemental 

Amending Deeds, farther details of which are included in the report from the joint negotiating 

committee. The committee has also been involved in the following activities: 

• To finalise the essential changes to the USS rules necessary as a result of the Revenue's A-day

tax simplification exercise and to develop and implement some of the more technical aspects

of these reforms, which we refer to as 'second order' changes.

• To ensure that any decisions taken by the trustee company m relation to continuing

developments arising from the Pensions Act 2004, for example in relation to the Pension

Protection Fund, have been fully informed and researched.

• Consideration of legislation introduced to combat age discrimination (through the

Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006), which came into force for pension schemes

on 1 December 2006, including preparing the necessary rule amendments and raising any

relevant points of policy.

• To consider the technical aspects and prepare the necessary rule amendments in relation to

salary sacrifice for pension contributions within USS.

• To continue to look at administrative problem areas, and prepare rule amendments in a

number of areas to clarify the intention of the rules and, in some cases, to confirm more

effective approaches going forward.

• To commence the process of a review of the USS rules.

The committee met on four occasions during the year. 

Signed on behalf of the rules committee 

H Rjacobs 

Chairman 

31 



UNIVERSITI�S SUPERANNUAllON SCIIEM!o 

T RU STEE 'S F UNDING STATEME T 

TRUSTEE'S FUNDING STATEMENT to members fi.w the year ended 31 M,mh 2lHl7 

1. Introduction

1.1 This funding statement gives some of the background and detail surrounding the nature of USS

and its financial position. 

1.2 It is not designed to give all the details or implications of the funding of the scheme nor is it a 

communication which covers the particular circumstances of individual members. It is aimed at 

giving background information regarding the scheme, such as: 

• the general funding of the scheme:

• the investment strategy of the scheme; and

• the contribution strategy of the scheme

1.3 This information should help members to understand better how the trustee company, with its 

advisers, is looking after the scheme and seeking to deliver members' benefits over the long­

term. A number of different circumstances are considered (for example if circumstances continue 

exactly as they are, if all the members were to leave and transfer their benefits to other 

arrangements immediately and if the scheme were to be wound-up). 

1.4 A sununary funding statement is sent to every member of the scheme each September. This trustee's 

funding statement gives a little more detail on the matters covered in the summary statement. 

2. Owrview

The key points in the statement are:

2.1 USS aims to deliver a defined set of benefits based on service and salary. The financing of these 

benefits is provided by the sponsoring institutions and the scheme members. 

2.2 There are always uncertainties inherent in the funding of a final salary scheme. In view of this 

the finances of the scheme are checked regularly to see how well the fund is shaping up. The 

key driver is how well the investments have performed relative to the growth of the liabilities 

(the liabilities being the benefits payable by the scheme). 

2.3 If investments perform very well then it may be possible to improve benefits or reduce the 

contribution rate; more likely, unless performance is exceptional and sustained, improved 

returns would be used to protect the current level of contribution rates; if investments perform 

badly then there may be a need for institutions to contribute more to deliver the benefits. 

2.4 The actuary carries out a full actuarial valuation of the scheme every three years. In the period 

between these valuations he provides quarterly estimates of the funding level of the scheme to 

the trustee company. 

2.5 The current financial position of the scheme is simply a 'snapshot' as at the valuation date and 

can vary in the future depending on the actual experience of the scheme. 

2.6 At the date of the last actuarial valuation of the scheme, at 31 March 2005, the actuary advised 

that on the scheme funding basis, the assets in the fund amounted to £21,739.7 million and this 

covered 77�1> of the accumulated liabilities based on pensionable service to the valuation date 

and salaries projected through to retirement. 

2.7 Since 31 March 2005, the financial security of the scheme has improved and the actuary has 

estimated that the funding level at 31 March 2007 had increased to 91 %. This improvement in 

the scheme's financial security is largely due to the investment return on the scheme's assets since 

31 March 2005 being higher than allowed for in the funding assumptions. 
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2.8 The actuary has advised the trustee company that, in determining the scheme funding basis used in 

the actuarial valuation at 31 March 2( 105, a cautious approach had been adopted. If the investment 

return assumption used in the valuation had been increased by 2% to 6 '/, % (a relatively mainstream 

actuarial assumption and one which would still contain an element of prudence) the fund would 

have been in surplus at that date. 

2. 9 In addition to the scheme funding basis, the actuary also calculates the USS funding position on

a number of other methods, including the PPF (Pension Protection Fund) basis and the FRSl 7 

basis. On the FRS 17 basis, the actuary estimated that the funding level at 31 March 2007 was 109%. 

2.10 Acting on actuarial advice, the trustee company agreed to leave the shortfall at the last valuation 

to be addressed by investment performance rather than increasing contributions, but undertook 

a review, in consultation with the participating employers, of the funding of the scheme to 

determine whether an increase in contributions should be made in advance of the next valuation 

at 31 March 2008. 

2.11 As a result of the review of the funding of the scheme, the trustee company introduced a charge, 

payable by the employers, to cover the cost of providing unreduced benefits on early retirements 

below the age of 60. The actuary has estimated that this charge should have the effect of improving 

the scheme funding level by approximately 3'Y., and will be broadly equivalent to an increase in 

the contribution rate ofjust under 2%. Acting on actuarial advice, the trustee company decided 

not to increase contributions in advance of the 2008 valuation but will review the contribution 

rate again following consideration of the results of the valuation. 

2.12 Shown below is a summary of the scheme fi.mding level under the various different valuation 

bases at 31 March 2005 and 2007: 

Funding basis 31 March 2005 31 March 2007 

(}11 cy., 

Ongoing basis 77* 91 

FRS 17 90 109 

PPF 110 * 137 

MFR 126 * NIA 

Solvency 74* 84 

F1111di11g lel'els mi1rkcd 1uith <111 * hm,c bem certified by the scheme act11<1ry. All other _fig11rcs lwl'c been 

prwided by the scheme act11ary 011 an estimated basis. The l\IFR bi1sis 1uill 110 longer be applicable <!fter 

31 l\li1rch 2008 and hi1s not been rccalwlatcd at 31 l\larclz 2007. 

3. Benefits provided by the scheme

3.1 USS is a final salary scheme. Under this type of arrangement benefits are payable on the death,

early leaving or retirement of a member and are generally dependent upon how long the 

member has been in the scheme at the time the benefit becomes due and the member's salary 

at that time. 

3.2 An active member may choose to opt out of the scheme and become a deferred pensioner, 

becoming entitled to a cash equivalent transfer value calculated on the advice of the actuary. 

This is designed to be equal to a sum of money which could reasonably be expected to be 

sufficient to provide the benefits given up in the scheme. 

3.3 There are provisions for providing discretionary benefits, for example, in the circumstances of 

early and ill-health retirements. Individual cases are considered by the trustee company on their 
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merits on a case by case basis. Many members will have their benefits enhanced by additional 

voluntary contributions and/or by the transfer into the scheme of pension rights acquired under 

other arrangements. In some cases, usually cases of premature retirement, employers may 

purchase additional benefits for a member, to be paid for through the scheme. 

3.4 Members pay a fixed contribution (currently 6.35'Yc, of pensionable salary) towards the provision 

of these benefits and the sponsoring institutions meet the 'balance of the cost'. There are no 

provisions for contributions to be made from other sources and in particular the scheme is not 

government backed. 

-+. Assessing the required contributions 

-1-.1 There are always uncertainties inherent in the funding of a final salary scheme. The cost of the 

scheme will depend on how well the imestments perform, what salary increases members 

receive each year and on a whole host of other matters such as how long people live, how many 

people leave service early, or cake early or ill-heath early retirement. When advising on the 

financial health of the scheme and contribution rates the actuary has to make assumptions about 

these sorts of things. 

-1-.2 Member and employer contributions are invested in USS ,  a trust fund which is held separately 

from the assets of any of the institutions, and the contributions are managed by investment 

managers on behalf of the trustee company. Valuations are carried out periodically by the 

actuary to the scheme. Typically this is once every three years but valuations can be obtained 

more frequently by the trustee company. Quarterly updates to the valuation are provided by the 

actuary on an approximate basis. These estimates of the funding level of the scheme are based 

on the same member data as used in the triennial actuarial valuations, but take account of 

changes in the interest rates and actual investment performance since the date of the last triennial 

valuation. If these raise particular concerns, which require a more accurate assessment of the 

position, then the trustee company would consider carrying out a full valuation. In the regular 

three yearly valuations the actuary checks that the assets built up and levels of contribution 

payable mean that the fund is still on course to pay the benefits expected under the arrangement. 

-1-.3 If investments have performed poorly then there may be a need to increase contributions. If 

investments have performed better than expected then there may be scope for benefits to be 

improved or contributions to be reduced. Changes in members' ordinary contribution rates 

would require an amendment to the rules. 

:1. Funding position as at 31 March 21 H l5 

5.1 The last actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 31 March 2005. The actuary 

reported that the contributions required to meet each extra year's accrual of pension amounted 

to 20.65% of pensionable salary (6.35'h, of which is contributed by the members and the balance 

by the sponsoring institutions). This rate of contribution can be adjusted to reflect any surplus 

or deficit currently in the scheme. At the valuation date the actuary reported a deficit of 

£6,568.4 million. The assets in the fund amounted to £21,739.7 million and this covered 77°1, 

of the accumulated liabilities based on pensionable service to the valuation date and salaries 

projected through to retirement. It is this measure of coverage of assets against liabilities that the 

trustee company has adopted as the �cheme long-term funding target. The long-term funding 

and contribution strategy is aimed at delivering 1 OU% coverage on this basis. 

5.2 At the previous valuation, which was carried out on 31 March 2002, the scheme was 101 % 

funded with a surplus of £162 million. The worsening in the scheme's financial security was 

due to the investment return on the scheme's assets being lower than expected and to changes 

to the financial assumptions resulting from the fall in gilt yields. 
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6. Funding position as at 31 March 21 H l7

S ince 31 March 2005 the financial security of the scheme has improved and the actuary has

estimated that the funding level has increased from 77% at 31 March 2005 to 91 % at 31 March 

2007. This improvement in the scheme's financial security is due primarily to the investment 

return on the scheme's assets since 31 March 2005 being higher than allowed for in the funding 

assumptions. On the FRS 17 basis, the actuary estimated that the funding level at 31 March 2007 

was above 109%. 

7. The .ictu.1rial assumptions

7 .1 The on-going ti.mding level has been determined using a range of actuarial assumptions, the key

ones of which as at 31 March 2005, were: 

• An investment return of 4.5% for determining past liabilities;

• An investment return of 6.2'.V., for determining the cost of future accruals;

• S alary growth of 3. 9�1., plus an allowance for promotional increases;

• An inflation assumption of _.9%;

• Assets taken at market value.

7.'2 An additional allowance by way of a promotional salary scale was also made for increases in 

salaries over and above the general allowance of 1 % in excess of price inflation. Analysis of salary 

data from 2002 to 2004 has shown that there has been a more rapid progression of salary increases 

from that allowed for in the previous valuation's salary scale. The actuary made a cautionary 

reserve of£8(H) million in the active members' past service liabilities to take account of this, but 

maintained the previous salary scale for projecting future service accrual costs. Further analysis 

of the promotional salary scale is being carried out to determine whether the 211( 12-2004 experience 

has been a temporary phenomenon or represents a genuine long-term trend. 

7 .3 The actuary has advised the trustee company that a cautious approach has been adopted in 

determining these assumptions. For example, when assessing the current surplus or deficit the 

actuary has assumed that equity investments will not outperform fixed interest securities in the 

future, even though they have generally done so in the past. 

7 .4 The trustee company, is also mindful of the need to review continually the investment policies 

of the fund to provide assurance to members that all reasonable strategies are considered to 

protect their future security. A full asset liability modelling exercise was carried out following 

the last actuarial valuation with the assistance of Mercer Investment Consulting and this broadly 

supported the trustee company's asset allocation policy, whilst recommending some changes to 

the investment strategy to be gradually implemented over a period of years. The investment 

performance of the scheme is monitored regularly by the trustee company and this is reported 

on in the report of the investment comn1ittee. 

7.5 To help the trustee company assess the sensitivities of the funding level to changes in the 

actuarial assumptions the actuary has further advised that if the investment return assumption 

were increased by 1 % to 5 '/, % then the reported deficit would have reduced by approximately 

£ 4 billion, while if the investment return assumption were increased by 2% to 61/, % then the 

fund would have been in surplus. Whilst the future investment return cannot be guaranteed or 

predicted with certainty, an assumption at March 2005 that assets would outperform gilt-edged 

returns by 1 % or 2% per annum would have been within mainstream actuarial practice and would 

have still contained an element of prudence. 
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7.6 A further feature of the 31 March 2005 valuation was that the demographic actuarial assumptions 

(relating to matters such as mortality rates, ill-health and early retirement rates, etc) were generally 

pitched on the conservative side compared with the actual past experience of the USS membership 

in these areas. 

7.7 Allowance was made for generally improving mortality trends with the up to date mortality 

table, PA92 (projected forward to 2020 to allow for future expected increased longevity), 

being used. The assumed lifr expectations on retirement at age 65 are 19.8 years for males and 

22.8 years for females. Analysis of experience for the last nine years shows that these tables 

remain appropriate. 

7.8 All assumptions will be reviewed by the trustee company on a regular basis and in particular at 

the next formal actuarial valuation of the scheme, but the strategy will be to maintain a large 

degree of prudence in the overall long-term funding assumptions. 

8. Alternatiw fimding bases

8.1 It should be appreciated that there is a range of measures that can be used to determine the

funding level of the scheme and the measure used for the USS valuation on an ongoing basis is 

a conservative one. Using the set of assumptions specified by the government under the Minimum 

Funding Requirement (MFR) regulations as laid down in the Pensions Act 1995, at 31 March 

2005 USS was 126'Y
i

, funded with a surplus of£ .J.,507 million over the regulatory minimum. 

8.2 Most schemes also carry out a valuation on a set of assumptions specified by Financial 

Reporting Standard 17 (FRS 17). While it is not a requirement for USS to comply with this 

standard (as a multi-employer scheme in which the participating employers share the costs and 

benefits of scheme membership, USS is exempt from this requirement), the actuary has 

estimated that at 31 March 2005 the scheme was approximately 90% funded under the FRS 17 

formula. At 31 March 2007 the actuary estimated that the scheme was approximately 109% 

fimded under FRS 17. 

8.3 All schemes in the UK which are eligible to participate in the Pension Protection Fund (PPF) 

are also required to complete a valuation on the PPF basis. The PPF was introduced by the 

Pensions Act 2(HH and provides compensation for members of eligible occupational pension 

schemes that wind-up with an insolvent employer who cannot afford to make good the funding 

deficit. The purpose of this valuation is to assess each scheme's risk of underfunding (and hence 

its likelihood to make a call on the PPF). A scheme's PPF level of funding is calculated by 

comparing the value of its assets with its PPF liabilities. In the case of USS, the actuary 

calculated that at 31 March 2005 the scheme was 110% funded in terms of the PPF regulations, 

while at 31 March 2007 the scheme was 137% funded. 

8..J. The new requirements for scheme funding (which will impact USS following the 2008 actuarial 

valuation) require an assessment of a scheme's 'technical provisions' to be made. These are the 

amount of assets judged sufficient to provide accrued liabilities with the assessment being based 

on 'prudent' assumptions. If there is a shortfall on this measure then additional contributions 

have to be paid to clear this shortfall. The basis that USS might adopt for setting the assumptions 

for this purpose has not yet been determined but will ultimately have to be agreed by the trustee 

company acting on the advice of the actuary. 

8.5 A further valuation measure that the actuary is required to calculate is the 'solvency position' . 

Our aim is for there to be enough money in the scheme to pay pensions now and in the future, 

but this depends on the institutions carrying on in business and continuing to pay for the 
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scheme. If an institution goes out of business or decides to stop paying for the scheme, it must 

pay the scheme enough money to buy all the benefits built up by members from an insurance 

company. If this happens for all institutions, this is known as the scheme being 'wound-up'. The 

comparison of the scheme's assets to the cost of buying the benefits from an insurance company 

is known as the 'solvency position'. As at 31 March 2005, the actuary calculated that the value 

of the scheme's assets represented 7 4']1, of the cost of the liabilities calculated on a solvency basis. 

At 31 March 2007 the actuary estimated that the scheme was 84% funded on a solvency basis. 

8.6 The fact that we have shown the solvency position does not mean that consideration is being 

given to winding up the scheme. It is just another piece of information that we hope will help 

you understand the financial security of your benefits. 

'). What does the \·aluation shortfall really mean? 

9.1 The valuation shortfall was estimated without taking any advance credit for investment returns 

in excess of gilt rates available on Government tixed-interest stocks. In reality, USS invests largely 

in equities in the belief that, in the long-term, equities will deliver superior returns. Acting on 

actuarial advice, following the valuation at 31 March 2005 the trustee company agreed to leave 

the shortfall to be addressed by investment performance rather than increasing contributions, but 

undertook a review during 2006, in consultation with the participating employers, of the funding 

of the scheme to determine whether an increase in contributions should be made in advance of 

the next valuation at 31 March 2008. As a result of this review, the trustee company introduced 

a charge, payable by the employers, to cover the cost of providing unreduced benefits on early 

retirement below the age of 60. The actuary has estimated that this charge should have the effect 

of improving the scheme funding level by approximately 3% and will be broadly equivalent to 

an increase in the contribution rate of just under 2%. The consultation exercise with the 

employers also indicated broad support for an increase in the retirement age for future entrants 

to the scheme to 65 (so that for future entrants, after a date to be determined, there would be 

a charge, payable by the employers, for the actuarial cost of providing unreduced benefits on 

early retirement below the age of 65). A rule change to put this into effect is being considered 

by the USS joint negotiating committee. Following the review, and acting on actuarial advice, 

the trustee company decided not to increase contributions in advance of the 2008 valuation but 

will re\·iew the contribution rate again following consideration of the results of the valuation. 

9.2 Equity markets have proven to be particularly volatile in the recent past but the trustee company 

does not intend to attempt to ·call the markets'; it is investing, over the long-term, on the basis 

that equities will indeed provide outperformance over gilts over long periods. The USS fund is 

well placed to ride any short-term volatilities as it has a positive cash flow, with contribution 

income and dividend receipts well in excess of the level of benefits to be paid out of the scheme 

each year, for the foreseeable future. As it does not have to sell investments in order to pay out 

benefits, temporary falls in market values are of less concern than would be the case for a mature 

scheme. The scheme also covers all its statutory and regulatory requirements regarding funding 

and one might view the covenant of the employing institutions as strong. Taking these factors 

into account it is the trustee company's view that the funds held are likely to be sufficient to 

meet existing accrued liabilities. 

I 0. Legislati\'e requirements 

10.1 On 6 April 1997 a method designed to provide protection for members of final salary (also 

known as defined benefit) pension schemes was created called the Minimum Funding 

Requirement (MFR). The MFR set a benchmark for the acceptable level of a pension scheme's 
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assets. It was designed to ensure that, in the event of a scheme winding-up, retired members 

could expect their pensions to be paid in full, and other members would have a reasonable 

expectation (but not a guarantee) of receiving the value of their pension rights by investment 

elsewhere. It was not designed to be a stretching benchmark, albeit many schemes have struggled 

to meet it. 

10.2 The MFR test compares scheme assets and liabilities in a way that links the liabilities to the 

current market value of certain investments; gilt-edged stocks for pensions in payment and for 

older scheme members ,  and UK equities for younger scheme members. 

10.3 MFR has not worked well and new scheme funding requirements for UK final salary pension 

schemes were introduced by the Pensions Act 2004 and came into force in October 2005. The new 

requirements applied to any scheme valuation that was based on an effective date of22 September 

2005 or later. They therefore did not apply to the last USS valuation as at 31 March 2005 but 

will apply to the next USS valuation at 31 March 2008. 

10.4 As part of the new requirements, USS will be required to publish a statement offi.mding principles 

in addition to the summary statement to members referred to above, with the first such statement 

being published after the 2008 valuation. In advance of that, whilst not obliged to do so, the 

trustee company intends to continue to publish this funding statement to enable members to 

understand more about the funding of the scheme. 

1 l. Agreed contributions 

Following the review of the funding of the scheme carried out during 2006, and acting on 

actuarial advice, the trustee company has agreed to maintain the institutions' contribution rate 

at 14% of pensionable payroll, but will review the contribution rate again following consideration 

of the results of the actuarial valuation at 31 March 2008. 

L'NIVER\ITIE\ SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 
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STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES 

l. Introduction

1.1 This statement has been prepared by Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited, the trustee

company of Universities Superannuation Scheme. Its purpose is to outline the broad principles 

governing the investment policy of the trustee company and to satisfy the requirements of the 

Pensions Act 1995 (as amended by the Pensions Act 2004 and the Occupational Pension Schemes 

(Investment) Regulations 2005). It also provides information on various other aspects of the 

investment of the fund's assets. 

1.2 The statement has been agreed by the management committee of the trustee company on 

written advice from the investment committee (a sub-committee of the management committee), 

the scheme's external investment consultants and the scheme actuary and has followed consultation 

with the participating employers. 

1.3 The management committee reviews the statement at least every three years and without delay 

if there are any significant changes in investment policy or \vhere the trustee company considers 

that a review is needed for other reasons. The investment committee monitors compliance with 

this statement at least annually and obtains confirmation from the investment managers that they 

have exercised their powers of investment with a view to giving effect to the principles contained 

herein as far as reasonably practicable. 

1.4 The fund's investment arrangements, based on the principles set out in this statement, are detailed 

in the Investment Policy Implementation Document ("IPID"). This is a working document 

which is updated on a regular basis and which is available to participating employers and scheme 

members on request. 

..., I rn·cstment principlcs 

2.1 T11e tmstec co111pa11y ,,,ii/ act i11 the bcst.fi11<111ci,1' i11terests 4all classes tfsche111c 111c111ber, seckill,(? to ms11re 

that the ,1ssets ,ire inz,estcd in a 1my 111ost likely to sewre the ben�fits offered by the scheme. The managers 

are instructed to give primary consideration to the financial prospects of any investment they 

hold or consider holding. 

2.2 The tmstec co111p<111y's i1111est111e11t o�iecti11e is to ac/1ie11e returns ouer the lo11g-ter111 that will meet the 

liabilities 1/lith a stalile co11trib11tio11 rate. Regard is had to the scheme's relative immaturity, strong 

positive cash flow, the scheme's statutory funding objective, the covenant of the employer, the 

minimum funding requirement of the Pensions Act 1995, the wishes of the employers and the 

management committee to minimise the risk of higher contributions at some time in the fi.iture 

and the need to ensure that the risk of deterioration of the fi..mding level, to such an extent as 

to lead to the need to implement a recovery plan under The Occupational Pensions Schemes 

(Scheme Funding) Regulations 2005, is acceptable. 

2.3 The tmstee co11111<111y takes a lo11g-ter111 uiell' Oil i1111est111e11t ,(?i11c11 the sche111c'., stroll,(? positi11e cashjfoll' a11d 

011goi11g jfo111 t:
f 
11ell' e11tr<111ts, <111d the stm1gth cf coz,e11,111t t:f the e111ploycrs. Short-term volatility of 

returns can be tolerated, as the scheme does not need to realise investments to meet liabilities, 

and this need not feed through directly to the contribution rate. The actuary has confirmed that 

the scheme's cash flow is likely to remain positive for the next ten years or more. 

2.4 The tmstee co111pm1y seeks to mmwge i11uest111c11t risk thro11gh ,1 di11ers!fied pt1r[/t1lio a11d 1/litlz regard to the 

risk appetite <?fits stakeholders. Further information on risk is given in sections 3 and 4 below. 
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2.5 The trustee w111pa11y be/ie11es that ol'er the lo11g-ter111 equity i1west111e11t and i1ll'est111e11t in selected 

altematil'e asset classes tui/1 prtll'idc rnpcrior returns to other i11l'cst111e11t classes. Further information on 

the trustee company's beliefs about investment returns and its investment benchmark and 

management structure are given in section 5 be!O\,·. 

2.6 The trt1stre w111pa11y seeks to be a11 acti11e a11d rrspo11Siblr lo11g-tem1 i11l'l'stor beliel'ing that this 11 1ill protect 

and e11ha11cc the ualue tf the ji111d's i11!'est111mts i11 the lo11g-ter111. Further information on responsible 

investment is given in section 6 below. 

J. l�isk

3.1 The trustee company recognises that it would be theoretically possible to select investments

producing income flows broadly similar to the estimated liability cash flows. With a fund of this 

size, this is impractical. Therefore, in order to meet the long-term funding objective to pay the 

scheme benefits as they fall due whilst managing the level of contributions, the trustee company 

has agreed to take on a degree of investment risk relative to the liabilities. This taking of 

investment risk seeks to target a gTeater return than the liability matching assets would provide 

whilst maintaining a prudent approach to meeting the fund's liabilities. 

3.2 Before deciding to take investment risk relative to the liabilities, the trustee company receives 

advice from the investment consultant and the scheme actuary, and considers the views of the 

employers. In particular, it considers carefully the following possible consequences: 

• The assets might not achieve the excess return relative to the liabilities expected over the

long-term. If the value of assets increased at a lower rate than the value of the liabilities, this

would result in deterioration in the fund's financial position and consequently the need for

higher contributions from the employers than currently expected.

• The relative value of the assets versus the liabilities will be more volatile over the short-term

than if investment risk had not been taken. This will increase the potential size of any shortfall

of assets relative to the liabilities in the event of discontinuance of the fond.

3.3 The trustee company's willingness to take investment risk is dependent on the continuing 

financial strength of the employers and their willingness to contribute appropriately to the fund, 

the financial health of the fund and the fund's liability profile. The trustee company monitors 

these factors regularly with a view to altering the investment objectives, risk tolerance and/ or 

return target should there be any significant change in any of the factors. 

3 . ..J. Having re�ard to the above, and afrer taking advice from the investment consultant and scheme 

actuary, the trustee company has adopted investment arrangements that it believes offer an 

acceptable trade-off between risk and return. 

..J.. I )inTsification of risk 
..J..1 The overall investment risk to the fund is diversified across a range of different investment types, 

which are expected to provide excess return over time, commensurate with risk. 

..J..2 The fund invests in, among other assets, bonds, equities, property and alternative assets such as 

private equity, commodities, currencies, absolute return strategies, derivatives and infrastructure. 

..J..3 The trustee company also monitors, analyses and responds to other risks such as regulatory risk, 

administrative risk, custody risk, concentration, liquidity and counterpart)' risk and political and 

country risk. 

..J....J. The investment portfolio has been constructed to be consistent with the investment objective, 

risk tolerance and excess return target of the trustee company. 
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5. Strategic investment benchm.irk and investmem management structure 

5.1 The trustee company believes that over the long-term equity investment and investment in 

selected alternative asset classes will provide superior returns to other investment classes. The 

management structure and targets set are designed to give the fund a bias towards equities 

through portfolios that are diversified both geographically and by sector. The trustee company 

also believes that a portfolio of alternative assets can provide similar returns to equities whilst 

reducing risk through greater diversification. 

5.2 The fund's strategic investment benchmark is a dynamic asset class distribution for the fund's 

investments. Full details of the fund's current benchmark and divergence limits are set out in the 

IPID, but the following table provides a summary in broad terms: 

UK equities ..J.0% 

Overseas equities 40% 

Fixed interest (including index-linked) 10% 

Property 10 % 

Investment in alternative assets is accommodated within the allocation to equities. Up to 5% of 

the fund can currently be invested in alternative assets, with consideration to be given to 

increasing this to 20% over the medium-term. 

5.3 This distribution has been agreed on the recommendation of the investment committee based on 

its belief that, over the long-term, the real rates of return of each asset class will be of the order of 

Equities 4.5% 

Alternative assets ..J..5% 

Property 3.0% 

Fixed interest 2.5% 

Index-linked 1.5 (1() 

5...J. The trustee company's policy is that the majority of foreign currency exposure is hedged back 

to sterling. 

5.5 The securities investments of the fund are currently managed by a number of discretionary 

specialist managers and an index tracking manager. The appointment of specialist managers 

diversifies risk by fund management organisation and investment style and is also aimed at 

achieving greater returns. The appointment of the index tracking manager is intended to reduce 

investment risk and investment management costs. The IPID gives details of each investment 

manager's mandate as set out in their respective investment management agreements . 

5.6 The alternative asset portfolio is managed in-house, either through direct investment or through 

sub-contracting the management function to specialists. 

5.7 The property portfolio is managed in-house with advice received from external specialists . 

5.8 The assumptions and beliefs concerning investment risk and returns, on which the trustee 

company's benchmark and management structure are based, are reviewed regularly by the 

investment and management committees. 

5.9 The external managers are remunerated through a combination of ad valorem fees and 

performance-related fees. The fee arrangements in each case are considered by the trustee 

company to be the best way of encouraging outpertormance while ensuring value for money. 
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5.10 The investment management structure is subject to a formal review at least every five years. The 
appointment of any manager can be reviewed at any time if, for example, changes to its investment 
management process, personnel or business management lead to a loss of confidence in the 
manager's ability to outperform its benchmark over a full market cycle or result in the manager 
no longer being suitable for the mandate for which it was appointed. 

6. Responsible inVl'strnent
6.1 As an institutional investor that takes its fiduciary obligations to its members seriously, the trustee

company aims to be an active and responsible long-term investor in the assets and markets in 
which it invests. By encouraging responsible corporate behaviour, the trustee company expects 
to protect and enhance the value of the fund's investments in the long-term. 

6.2 The trustee company therefore requires its fund managers to p::ty appropriate regard to relevant 
extra-financial factors including corporate governance, social, ethical and environmental 
considerations in the selection, retention and realisation of all fund investments. The trustee 
company expects this to be done in a manner which is consistent with the trustee company's 
investment objectives and legal duties. 

6.3 Specifically, the trustee company has instructed its internal fund managers and called on its 
external managers to use influence as major institutional investors to promote good practice by 
investee companies and by markets to which the fund is particularly exposed. 

6.4 The trustee company also expects the scheme's fund managers, both internal and external, to 
undertake appropriate monitoring of the policies and practices on material corporate governance 
and social, ethical and environmental issues of current and potential investee companies so that 
these extra-financial factors can, where material, be taken into account when making 
investment decisions. 

6.5 The aim of such monitoring should be to identify problems at an early stage, and enable 
engagement with management to see appropriate resolution of such problems. The trustee 
company uses voting rights as part of its engagement work to ensure that voting is undertaken 
in a prioritised, value-adding and informed manner. Where collaboration is likely to be the most 
effective mechanism for encouraging company management to address these issues 
appropriately, the trustee company expects its fund managers to participate in joint action with 
other institutional investors. 

6.6 The investment committee monitors this engagement on an on-going basis with the aim of 
maximising its impact and effectiveness. The trustee company's governance, social, ethical and 
environmental policies are also reviewed regularly by the management committee and updated 
as appropriate to ensure that they are in line with good practice. 

7. Additional Volunt::try Contribution assets
Additional voluntary contributions (AVCs) from members to purchase additional benefits on a
money purchase basis are invested separately from the other assets of the fund and are managed 
and administered externally. They, do, however form part of the fund. The appointment of AVC 
providers is subject to review by the management committee and their investment performance 
is monitored by the investment committee. 

8. Gon:'rnance
8.1 The management committee, as the governing body of the trustee company, retains the overall

power over investment of the fund's assets. It delegates some aspects of the fund's investment 
arrangements to the investment committee but retains direct responsibility for setting investment 
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objectives, establishing risk and return targets and setting the fund's strategic benchmark and 
investment manager structure. It makes decisions on these matters after considering 
recommendations from the investment committee. 

8.2 The trustee company established the investment committee under its articles of association, and 
under the rules of the scheme, to advise it on all questions relating to the investment of the assets 
of the fund. It consists of between three and eight people of whom at least one must be a 
member of the management committee and up to five may be persons other than directors 
whom the management committee may decide to appoint because of their knowledge of and 
expertise in investment matters. In making its recommendations to the management committee, 
the investment committee receives advice from its external investment consultants whenever it 
considers it appropriate. The investment committee implements the management committee's 
decisions under delegated powers by retaining and monitoring investment managers, performance 
measurers, custodian. and other service providers. 

8.3 The investment managers (internal and external) are responsible for day-to-day management of 
the fund's assets in accordance with guidelines agreed with the trustee ·ompany. The investment 
managers have discretion to buy, sell or retain individual securities in accordance with these 
guidelines. The chief investment officer monitors and reports on the performance and activities 
of the managers to the investment committee each quarter. The investment managers also report 
direct to the investment committee from time to time. 

8.4 The internal fund managers make recommendations for the continuance or amendment of their 
fund's asset allocation policy for the approval of the investment committee. The investment 
committee also determines the appropriate allocation of cash (new money) between the different 
managers on a quarterly basis. 

8.5 The trustee company has appointed performance measurers independent of the investment 
managers to calculate and analyse the performance of each investment manager's portfolio and 
of the total fund. 

8.6 The trustee company has appointed external custodians who are responsible for the safekeeping 
of the fund's assets and for performing the associated administrative duties such as trade settlements, 
dividend collection, corporate actions, tax reclamation and prox-y voting. The custodians also act 
as agents for the fund's stock lending programme (although third party agents can also be appointed). 

8.7 The scheme actuary performs a valuation of the fund at least every three years, in accordance 
with regulatory requirements. The main purpose of the actuarial valuation is to assess the extent 
to which the assets cover the accrued liabilities and agree an appropriate funding strategy. 

8.8 An asset liability modelling study was carried out in 2005 and will be carried out regularly to 
seek to ensure that the fund's asset distribution remains appropriate given the liability profile of 
the fund and the trustee company's risk tolerance. 

8.9 The fond's governance arrangements are described in more detail in the IPID. 
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I'he number of member, m the ,chl'llll' .md the number n:ct:1n11g pem1011 .md .mmnty benefit, .1t the end of the year are .1, fr1llow,: 

UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS 

No. 

0100 

4100 

4300 

6600 

1000 

4200 

1100 

4400 

7035 

1200 

1202 

1204 

1206 

1208 

1210 

Name 

Aberdeen 

Aston 

Bath 

Belfast 

Birmingham 

Bradford 

Bristol 

Brunel 

Buckingham 

Cambridge (University) 

Christ's 

Churchill 

Clare 

Clare Hall 

Corpus Christi 
------

1212 

1214 

1216 

1218 

1220 

1222 

1224 

1226 

1228 

1230 

1232 

1234 

1236 

1238 

1240 

1242 

1245 

1246 

1255 

1250 

Darwin 

Downing 

Emmanuel 

Fitzwilliam 

Girton 

Gonville & Caius 

Hughes Hall 

Jesus 

King's 

Lucy Cavendish 

Magdalene 

New Hall 

Newnham 

Pembroke 

Peterhouse 

Queens 

Robinson 

St Catharine's 

St Edmund's 

St John's 

MEMBERS 

1,637 

622 

1,338 

2,017 

2,919 

914 

2,807 

975 

79 

4,747 

19 

64 

17 

10 

43 

6 

43 

22 

75 

36 

40 

4 

12 

64 

32 

15 

62 

49 

46 

19 

15 

30 

15 

44 

PENSIONERS 

Spouses, 
Dependants 

Pensioner and Dependent 
Members Children 

626 

369 

409 

155 

125 

77 

665 149 

1,096 247 
--------

508 108 

816 165 

336 74 

48 5 

1,083 

7 

9 

-I

7 

2 

10 

6 

7 

15 

12 

2 

5 

13 

7 

7 

10 

19 

11 

3 

9 

8 

9 

326 

4 

1 

3 

2 

3 

2 

3 

3 

2 

2 

2 

4 

4 

1 
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fhe number of nH:mbl'r, 111 the r;cheme ,md the number receiving pen,1011 ,md .mnmc, benetit, ,It the e-nd of the ye,1r are J<; follow�: 

UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS continued 

No. 

1252 

1254 

1258 

1260 

Name 

Selwyn 

Sidney Sussex 

Trinity 

Trinity Hall 

1268 Wolfson 

4700 City 

7016 

0700 

1300 

1301 

1302 

1303 

1500 

Cranfield 

Dundee 

Durham (University) 

St Chad's 

St John's 

Ushaw College 

East Anglia 

MEMBERS 

24 

48 

59 

27 

11 

1,255 

904 

1,656 

1,763 

4 

3 

4 

1,282 

PENSIONERS 

Spouses, 
Dependants 

Pensioner and Dependent 
Members Children 

15 

7 

3 

418 

545 

414 

517 

479 

2 

2 

6 

5 

107 

107 

94 

90 

69 
0200 

- --- --- -- -- - - - -- - -- --- ---

1700 

1600 

0300 

0800 

1800 

31 ()() 

1900 

2100 

2()()() 

2200 

2300 

2497 

2408 

Edinburgh 

Essex 

Exeter 

Glasgow 

Heriot-Watt 

Hull 

Keele 

Kent 

Lancaster 

Leeds 

Leicester 

Liverpool 

London (University) 

Birkbeck 

3,810 

1, 165 

1,289 

2,718 

822 

1,063 

1,051 

1, 180 

1,271 

3,474 

1,479 

2,317 

514 

760 ---- - -- --- --- - -- ---
2401 

2480 

Goldsmiths College 

Heythrop 

651 

17 

2409 _ _  Imperial Coll of Science, Technology & Medicine 3,057

2440 

2403 

2410 

2412 

2434 

Institute of Cancer Research 

Institute of Education 

King's College London 

226 

436 

2,781 

London School of Economics & Political Science 1,022 

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine 592 

45 

1,086 

248 

565 

973 

288 

512 

283 

399 

393 

1, 196 

438 

827 

653 

180 

165 

6 

1,115 

25 

229 

1,021 

259 

113 

266 

50 

100 

199 

51 

128 

62 

63 

87 

273 

84 

200 

195 

32 

12 

277 

4 

47 

221 

68 

34 



UNIVERSI [!ES SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

MEMBERSHIP STATISTICS

The number of member� m the ,cheme Jnd the number rece1v111g pemwn ,md Jnnutty beni:fo.., at the end of the ye,1r Jn: ,1.., follmv;,: 

UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS continued 

No. Name 

2413 Queen Mary & Westfield College
----

2447 Royal Holloway and Bedford New College 

2436 Royal Veterinary College 

2428 St George's Hospital Medical School

2415 School of Oriental & African Studies

2416 School of Pharmacy 

2417 University College 
- ---

2484 

4600 

2500 

1400 

2600 

8900 

2700 

2701 

2702 

2703 

2704 

2705 

2706 

2735 

2707 

2708 

2709 

2710 

2734 

2711 

2712 

2732 

2713 

2714 

2715 

2716 

2717 

2718 

London Business School

Loughborough 

Manchester 

Newcastle-upon-Tyne 

Nottingham 

Open 

Oxford (University)

All Souls 

Balliol 

Brasenose 

Christ Church 
- ---

Corpus Christi 

Exeter 

- ---

--

Harris Manchester

Hertford 

Jesus 

Keble 

Lady Margaret Hall

Linacre 

Lincoln 

Magdalen 

Mansfield 

- -

----

Merton 

New College 

-

Nuffield 

Oriel 

Pembroke 

Queen's 

46 

MEMBERS 

1,545 

763 

284 

484 

489 

118 

4,603 

321 

1,553 

5,089 

2,385 

3,078 

6,130 

4,495 

30 

32 

27 

53 

17 

26 

10 

21 

26 

37 

24 

10 

20 

35 

18 

41 

47 

32 

26 

18 

20 

PENSIONERS

Pensioner 
Members 

576 

271 

59 

91 

200 

33 

1, 167 

43 

517 

1,844 

828 

753 

1,818 

1,277 

13 

4 

5 

11 

6 

5 

3 

9 

8 

5 

11 

4 

6 

10 

5 

8 

14 

9 

11 

6 

Spouses, 

Dependants 

and Dependent 

Children 

145 

53 

22 

22 

53 

11 

239 

12 

138 

368 

189 

175 

226 

389 

3 

5 

3 

5 

2 

3 

2 

3 

3 

3 

5 

2 

4 

10 2 

L'NIVERSITIES '>UPERANNUAT ION SCHEME 

MEMBERSHIP STATISTICS 

The number of member.., Ill the '>lheme and the number rece1vm • . g pt1Non ,md ,umu1ty bl·nefo .. ,IC the end of the yt'Jr Jre .1, follow,: 

UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS . L OlltlllUL'd 

No. 

2736 

2719 

2720 

2737 

2721 

2722 

2723 

2724 

2725 

2726 

2727 

7028 

2728 

2729 

2730 

2733 

2731 

2800 

0400 

4800 

2900 

Name 

Regent's Park 

St Anne's 

St Antony's 

St Benet's Hall 

St Catherine's 

St Edmund Hall 

St Hilda's 

St Hugh's 

St John's 

St Peter's 

Somerville 

Templeton 

Trinity 

University 

Wadham 

Wolfson 

Worcester 

Reading 

St Andrews 

Salford 

Sheffield 

3000 _2outhampton 

0500 Stirling 

0600 Strathclyde 

4000 Surrey 

3200 Sussex 

6800 

3900 

3300 

3400 

3500 

38()0 

3600 

5000 

5200 

Ulster 

Wales (University) 

Aberystwyth 

Bangor 

Cardiff 

Lampeter 

wansea 

Warwick 

York 

Old university institutions total 

47 

MEMBERS 

2 

36 

25 

35 

14 

44 

29 

45 

22 

38 

4 

16 

36 

17 

10 

25 

1,759 

1,018 

1,083 

2,881 

2,825 

808 

2,012 

1,447 

1,057 

1,849 

59 

707 

828 

2,878 

122 

1,284 

2,163 

1,663 

116,343 

PENSIONERS 

Pensioner 
Members 

12 

12 

10 

4 

17 

9 

11 

5 

10 

20 

3 

9 

7 

5 

10 

620 

289 

581 

849 

787 

275 

640 

543 

475 

488 

26 

313 

395 

822 

52 

446 

454 

33') 

37,689 

Spouses, 
Dependants 

and Dependent 
Children 

1 

3 

2 

3 

5 

7 

4 

140 

66 

115 

179 

133 

51 

174 

92 

97 

101 

4 

76 

89 

206 

15 

110 

96 

70 

8,355 



UNIVERSITIE� SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

MEMBERSHIP STATISTICS 

The number of member, 10 the �cheme ,md the number rece1vmg pemton Jnd Jnntlll\ benefit� Jt the end of the yeJ.r are J� follov.:�: 

UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS continued 

No. Name 

MEMBERS PENSIONERS 

Pensioner 
Members 

Spouses, 
Dependants 

and Dependent 
Children 

New universities admitted for limited membership only

8160 Abertay 

8280 Bedfordshire 

8420 Bolton 

8100 Bournemouth 

8080 Brighton 

8430 Canterbury Christ Church 
--

8350 Central England 

8150 Central Lancashire 

8110 Coventry 

8060 De Montfort 

8010 Glamorgan 

8400 Glasgow Caledonian 

8440 Gloucestershire 

8210 Greenwich 
-------- --

8040 Hertfordshire 

8050 Huddersfield 

8170 Kingston 

8190 Lincoln 

8300 Liverpool Hope 

8270 Liverpool John Moores 

8240 London Metropolitan 

8140 Manchester Metropolitan 

8460 Northampton 

8090 Nottingham Trent 

8120 Oxford Brookes 

8250 Paisley 

8070 Plymouth 

8290 Queen Margaret University 

8370 Roehampton 

8220 Sheffield Hallam 

8020 South Bank 

8320 Sunderland 

-
-- --

8340 Swansea Institute of Higher Education

8330 Teeside 

48 

3 

9 

6 

7 3 

45 1 

7
---

17 

21 2 

44 1 

16 4 

16 2 

9 
------ ---- -- - --

--
-

4 

4 

20 

7 

35 

4 

21 

29 

27 

4 

18 
----

34 

2 

48 

10 

23 

158 

35 

12 

13 

2 

2 

1 

------ --

1 

6 

6 

UNIVERSITIES SUPERANNUA1 ION SCHEME 

MEMBERSHIP STATISTICS 

The number of member-, in the ,cheme and the number recetvmg pem1on and ,umuity benefit� Jt the end of the year .ue .h follow�: 

UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS continued 

No. Name 

8030 Thames Valley 

8380 University College Falmouth 

8180 University of Wales Institute, Cardiff 

8130 Westminster 

8410 West of England 

8450 W inchester 

8390 Wolverhampton 

8360 Worcester 

New university institutions total 

All university institutions total 

MEMBERS 

9 

5 

18 

27 

15 

2 

3 

792 

117,135 

49 

PENSIONERS 

Pensioner 
Members 

4 

45 

37,734 

Spouses, 
Dependants 

and Dependent 
Children 

1 

8,356 



UNIVERSITIES SCPERANNUATION SCHEME 

M EMB E RSHI P ST ATISTI CS 

The number of membeVi m the �chemi: and the number rece1vin� pens10n and ,mnmty benefit� at the end of the year are as fol!O\v�: 

NON-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS MEMBERS 

No. Name 

7224 AGCAS 

7221 

7252 

Al-Maktoum Institute 

Amaethon Ltd 

Animal Health Trust 

Arable Group 

Arthritis Research Campaign 

Arts and Humanities Research Council 

Ashridge (Bonar Law Memorial) Trust 

Assessment and Qualifications Alliance 

Association of Commonwealth Universities 

Aston Academy of Life Sciences

7010 

7080 

7040 

7275 

7191) 

7178 

7011 

7255 

7108 

7067 

7273 

7084 

7037 

7206 

Aston Techn Planning & Management Services Ltd

Beatson Institute for Cancer Research

Biochemical Society 

BLCMP (Library Services) Ltd 

Brewing Research International 

Bristol Zoo Gardens 

7012 British Glass Manufacturing Confederation

703() British Institute in Eastern Africa

7( )91 British Institute of Archaeology at Anbra 

7112 

7097 

7087 

7092 

7033 

7050 

British Institute of International & Comp Law 

7122 

7116 

7296 

7060 

7279 

7153 

7291 

7197 

7015 

7191 

British Psychological Society 

British School at Athens 

British School at Rome 

British School of Archaeology in Iraq 

British Universities Sports Association 

Burden Neurological Institute 

Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre 

Cambridge University Technical Services Ltd 

Cancer Research UK 

Care Coordination Network UK 

CASE (Europe) 

Centre for Advanced Software Tech Ltd 

Centre for Migration Studies 

College of Estate Management 

Connect - T he Communications Disability Network 

50 

14 

5 

42 

5 

1 

206 

19 

31 

5 

81 

35 

4 

2 

2 

1 

5 

2 

42 

19 

5 

4 

6 

25 

16 

PENSIONERS 

Pensioner 
Members 

11 

5 

4 

4 

40 

36 

4 

5 

16 

8 

1 

2 

3 

2 

2 

6 

10 

34 

Spouses, 
Dependants 

and Dependent 
Children 

9 

8 

4 

-I-

2 

7 

UNIVERSITIES SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

M EMB E RSHI P ST ATISTI CS 

The number of nH:mher, Ill the ,chenH:' and the n h •. . .. . um tl n:ttl\mg pem,on and <mmuty benefit., ,It the end of the year are,\<, fnllnw�: 

NON-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS continued 

MEMBERS PENSIONERS 

No. Name 

Council for British Research in the Levant 

Pensioner 
Members 

Spouses, 
Dependants 

and Dependent 
Children 

7110 

7265 

7216 

7188 

7251 

7219 

7288 

7098 

71--1-5 

7217 

7253 

7241 

7164 

7032 

7282 

Council for Christ Col and Universities 3 

Courtauld Institute of Art 
__________ _:::___ _ _ ___ =-_ ___ _  �

:__

� 
59 7 3

Cranfield Aerospace Limited 14 8 

7UQ 

7266 

7229 

7139 

7299 

7290 

7257 

7212 

7089 

7239 

7283 

7214 

7175 

Cranfield Impact Centre Ltd 

Cranfield Innovative Manufacturing Ltd 

Crescent Purchasing Ltd 

Culham Institute 

Dartington Hall Trust 

Duke Corporate Education Ltd 

East Malling Research 

Economic Research Institute of Northern Ireland Ltd 

Edinburgh Business School 

Edinburgh University Students' Associati� 

Educational Competences Consortium Ltd 

EDUSERV 

EDUSERV Technologies Ltd 

Energy Consortium (Education) 

Engineering Development Trust 

English Association 

Equality Challenge Unit 

ESCP- EAP European School of Management 

EUSPEN Ltd 

faving Foundation 

Facial Surgery Research Foundation 

Florida State University IPA UK 

Forum for European Philosophy 
- ---

Freshwater Biological Association 

704 l Geographical Association 

_ 7246 _ _  Graduate Prospects

7152 Gray Laboratory 

7176 

7025 

7237 

7230 

7258 

HEFCE 

Henley Management College 

Henley Management College (Trading) Ltd 

Heriot-Watt University Students Association 

Higher Education Academy 

51 

8 

7 

12 

8 

101 

7 

26 

58 

3 

20 

40 

20 

12 

17 

2 

3 

3 

9 

7 

22 

237 

3 

92 

1 

4 

31 

4 

2 

10 

2 

3 

4 

48 

2 

7 



UNIVERSITIES SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

MEMBERSHIP ST ATISTICS 

d b , �t t the ·nd of the year are a� follo\'V�: 

The number of member� m the �cheme and the number rece1vmg pem1on an annmty enert � a t: 

NON-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS continued MEMBERS PENSIONERS 

Spouses, 

Pensioner 
Members 

Dependants 
.,nd Dependent 

Children 

No. Name 

4 6 
Hi,rher Education Careers Service Unit 7157 

7186 

7135 

7053 

- . 10 -
Higher Education South East __________ __ __

_____________ _
---- ------- -

18 ,.., 2 
Higher Education Statistics Agency Ltd -

7143 

7254 

7170 

7259 

7236 

7029 

History of Parliament Trust 

Homerton College 

Horticultural Research International Ltd 

Hull University Union 

INNOS Ltd 

Institute for Criminal Policy Research 

Institute for Employment Studi� __ _  _ 
----

7017 Institute of Development Studies 

7056 Institute of Food Science & Technology 

26 

26 

30 

11 

10 

8 

5 

138 

2 

6 

5 

3 

6 

2 

11 

36 8 

7231 Interactive University --------------------- --- -- - --- -

7207 

7124 

7132 

7149 

International Extension College 

International Institute of Biotechnology 

International Society (Manchester) 

International Students House 
-----

72� �C Content Procurement Company 

7 14 7 ]NT Association 

7054 Joint Library of Hellenic & Roman Societies

7066 Journal of Endocrinology Ltd __ _ 

7298 

7189 

Judge Business School 

Kelvin Nanotechnology Ltd 

Kidscan Ltd 7226 

7240 

7177 

7208 

Leadership Foundation for Higher Education 

Learning from Experience Trust 

LeNSE Ltd 

7271 LHASA Limited 

2482 Lister Institute of Preventive Medicine 

- --

2 

3 

8 

90 

6 

2 

2 

10 

2 

1 

10 1 
--- ----------

1 

1 

--- - --

43 
4 4 

7247- Liverpool Associates in Tropical:....:H�e_:1al�t�h ______________ _ ______ _

7277 Liverpool University Press 2004 Ltd 

London Mathematical Society 

London School of Jewish Studies 

London Universities Purchasing Consortium 

2 
7168 

7179 

7235 

7117 

7215 

Ludwig Inst for Cancer Research -Middlesex Branch 

4 

11 

1 

3 

13 5 

Manchester Medical Society 2 

52 

UNIVERSITIE� �UPERANNUATION SCHEMt 

MEMBERSH IP STATISTICS 

fhe number of llll'lllber, 111 the \Cherne and the number reu:1vmg pem10n and annuity benefit, at the end of che ye.lr are a, follow\: 

NON-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS continued 

No. Name 

7090 Marie Curie Cancer Care 

MEMBERS 

42 

7125_ Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 35 

PENSIONERS 

Pensioner 
Members 

4 

Spouses, 
Dependants 

and Dependent 
Children 

4 

7094 MIRA Ltd _ __ ____ 3_6_9 _____ 5_7 _ __ _
_ 
8_ 

7096 Modern Humanities Research Association 

__}__222 National Centre for Busine.::_!nd Sustainability 

7018 National Inst of Economic & Social Research 

7268 National Science Learning Centre 

7272 Ner Yisrael Educational Trust 

7205 North East Wales Institute 

7073 Northern College 

7270 Northern Consortium 

7269 Northern Consortium UK Ltd 

7146 Northern Ireland Council for Postgraduate 
Medical & Dental Education 

7115 

7048 

7292 

7301 

7183 

Northern Ireland Economic Research Centre 

Numerical Algorithms Group Ltd 

Nuffield Health & Social Services Fund 

Nuinto Limited 
NYU in London -- -- -- -- - ---- -- -- --

7242 

7209 

7284 

7260 

7261 

7058 

7023 

7174 

7031 

7118 

7297 

7163 

7287 

7104 

7243 

7075 

The Office for the Independent Adjudicator 
for Higher Education 

Open College Network Anglia 

Open College Network Eastern Region 

Open University Children's Centre 

Open University Student's Association 

Open University Worldwide 

Overseas Development Institute 

Oxford Cambridge & RSA Examinations 

Oxford Centre for Hebrew & Jewish Studies 

Oxford Centre for Islamic Studies 

Oxford Colleges Admissions Office 

Oxford Policy Institute 

Oxford Said Business School 

Pain Relief Foundation 

Picker Institute Europe 

Policy Studies Institute 

53 

5 

2 

18 

30 

2 

7 

31 

2 

4 

4 

11 3 

11 2 

2 

----- ------- --- -
42 

4 

9 
- -- ---

11 

4 

12 

16 

17 

49 

64 

180 

11 

8 

5 

36 

12 2

2 

12 

12 

22 2 

16 4 



UNIVER\ITIE\ SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

MEMBERSH IP STATISTI CS

Th, number nt m,mbecs 111 the "·h,me and the number rewvm� p,11,1nn ,111J annmt, b,netir, at the ,n,1 nt 1h, y,.ir "'' as 1,,!lmnc 

NON-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS continued
MEMBERS 

No. Name 
58 

Quality Assurance Agency

Queen V ictoria Blond Mclndoe Research Foundation 6 

-- -- - - -- - - -- - - -- -5
Rambert School of Ballet and Contemporar y  Dance 

Reading University Students Union

Regional Studies Association 3 

7162 

7264 

7234 

7052 

7203 

7156 

7238 

7123 

7185 

Regulatory Policy Institute

Rhodes Trust 

Richmond College 

3 

41 

Royal Academy of D ance

7160 _ Royal Academy of �usic

7218 Royal Agricultural College

7181 Royal College of Music
2 

PENSIONERS 

Pensioner 
Members 

15 

9 

Spouse,, 
Dependants 

and Dependent 

Children 

3 

------

7081 

7020 

7021 

7077 

7158 

7064 

7070 

Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health 4 
-����������- ---

7022 

7294 

7300 

7105 

7130 

7232 

7262 

7196 

7199 

7274 

7169 

7131 

7180 

7220 

7042 

7187 

7134 

- -- ---- -- -

Royal College of Surgeons of England 

Royal Geographical Society

Royal Institution

Royal Northern College of Music

Royal Society 

Royal Society of Edinburgh

Ruskin College 

Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health

Sarah Lawrence at O xford 

School Mathematics Project

Scottish Association for Marine Science

Scottish Further Education

Shared Care Network

Sheffield University Enterprises Ltd 

Smith Institute 

Society for Experimental Biology

Society of Antiquaries of London

Southern Universities Management Services

Standing Conference of Principals Ltd 

Stockholm Environment Institute

Strangeways Research Laboratory

Technology Innovation Centre

The Prince's Foundation

54 

145 

13 

5 

31 

3 

5 

15

3 
-- ------- -------

6 47 

5 

2 

'2 

8 

4 

10 

4 

9 

13 

4 

4 

JO 

2 

24 

4 

2 2 

2 

12 2 

2 

UNIVER,ITIE\ SL1PERANNUATIDN SCHEME 

MEMBERSHIP ST ATIST I CS 

·1 hl' numbl'r of member� 111 tht" � ·h · · J h l L tnh: ,In t t' num,i:r rei.:l't\'ln� pemton .111J annuity bent'flCS at the- L·nd ofche YL',lr an.• J� fi.Jllow�: 

NON-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS rnminul'd 
MEMBERS 

No. Name 

7138 

7109 

7173 

7263 

7293 

7204 

7250 

7210 

7285 

7166 

7106 

715() 

7121 

7295 

7184 

7171 

7049 

7256 

9999 

T hrombosis Research Institute 

Trade Union Research Unit Ltd 

Trinity College of Music 

UC (Suffolk) Ltd 

UCL BIO MEDICA PLC 

UHI Millenium Institute 

UK Biobank Ltd 

UKCOSA 

UK Socrates-Erasmus Council 

UMIST Ventures Ltd 

Universities and Colleges Admissions Service 

Universities and Colleges Employers Association 

Universities UK 

University and College Union 

University Council for the Education of Teachers 

University of the Arts London 

University of Leicester Student's Union 

University of Sheffield Union of Students 

University of Wales, Newport 

USS Ltd 

Warren House Group at Dartington 

Wildfowl & Wetlands Trust 

William Gates Building 

13 

44 

19 

20 

9 

23 

15 

12 

3 

19 

9 

44 

170 

14 

7 

2 

155 

15 

2 

7227 

7065 

7286 

7148 

7142 

7027 

7223 

Witan Hall ( incorp Gyosei International College in the UK) 

WP Management Ltd 5 

7195 

7280 

7076 

York Archaeological Trust 

York Health Economics Consortium Ltd 

Yorkshire Universities 

Young Foundation 

Zoological Society of London 

Withdrawn institutions 

Non-university institutions total 

All institutions total 

3 

6 

15 

9 

38 

4,082 

121,217* 

-

PENSIONERS 

Pensioner 
Members 

Spouses, 
Dependants 

and Dependent 
Children 

------ ----
4 

17 

9 

3 

36 

9 

- ---

2 

- ---

- -
8 

10 

111 

932 

38,666 

6 

8 

2 

31 

180 

8,536 

*Included in this figure (but counted once only) are :?.,:?.67 members who hJve more th.m one appointment. 
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UNIVERSI I IES SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

MEMBERSHIP STATISTICS 

Tht• nurnher of mi:mb�·rs m thi: sl..'hemi: and thi: number rcci:1,·mg pemwn .rnd .mnmty benefit� at thl' end of rhi: ye.u an: a, follow,: 

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENTS during the ye,1r c·nded .31 M,1rch 21H17 

University Non-University 

Members Institutions Institutions Totals 

Total members at 1 April 2006 111,897 3,732 115,629 

New members 18,796 607 19,403 

Retin:>ments - 111-health 88 3 l)l 

- Other 1,793 75 1,:%8 

I )c,1th� 82 2 :-;4 

Leawrs and \\'ithdra\\'als - Rdimds ] ,(18-+ 77 l,7Cl I 

- Deferredtundecided 9,173 361 9,5.H 

- Retrospective* -+-+(1 ."'>] -+77 

Total members at 31 March 2007 117,427 3,790 121,217 

*Retrospective withdrawals are members who withdrew from USS within three months of the date of joining the 

scheme with retrospective effect to the date of commencing employment at a USS institution. 

In addition USS Ltd was notified during the year of 3,392 employees who became eligible to 

join the scheme but elected not to do so. 

Pensioner Members 

Total pensioners at 1 April 2006 

Mergers 

New pensioners 

Deaths 

Total pensioners at 31 March 2007 

University 
Institutions 

35,709 

2,792 

771 

37,730 

Non-University 
Institutions Totals 

833 36,542 

119 2,911 

16 787 

936 38,666 

In addition at 31 March 2007, there were 7 ,64 7 pensions being paid to spouses and dependants 

and 889 annuities being paid to dependent children. Deferred pensioners not yet receiving a 

pension totalled 70,725. 

Ex-spouse particip,mts 

At 31 March 2007, 298 ex-spouse participants have benefits within the scheme in their own right

as a result of pension sharing, of whom 61 are now in receipt of their pension and are included

in the pensioner member summary above. 
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UNIVER�ITIES SUPERANNUATION ><HEME 

U S S  ACCOUNTS 

FUND ACCOUNT for the year ended 31 March 21,07 

Contributions and Benefits 

Contributions receivable 

Premature retirement scheme receipts 

Transfers in 

Benefits payable 

Payments on account of leavers 

Administration costs 

Net additions from dealings with members 

Returns on investments 

Investment income 

Change in market value of investments 

Investment management expenses 

Net returns on investments 

Net increase in the fund during the year 

Fund at start of year 

Fund at end of year 

The notes on pages 59 to 65 form part of these financial statements. 
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Note 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

2007 

£m 

9.+2.9 

28.2 

142.5 

1,113.6 

896.4 

44.5 

12.9 

953.8 

159.8 

813.9 

887.0 

(25.2) 

1,675.7 

1,835.5 

28,302.3 

30,137.8 

2006 

£m 

842.1 

25.9 

145.8 

1,013.8 

789.8 

38.0 

11.8 

839.6 

174.2 

686.9 

5,722.2 

(20.7) 

6,388.4 

6,562.6 

21,739.7 

28,302.3 
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STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS ,1s at 31 M,1rch 2<Hl7

Investments 

Securities 

Pooled investment vehicles securities

Pooled investment vehicles property

Property 

Cash deposits 

Other investment balances

Net current assets

· th fund balance
Total net assets, representing e 

Note 

12 

13 

13 

14 

15 

16 

2007 2006 

£m £m 

27,019.7 25,163.2

332.1 610.0

1,011.0 1,014.1 

1,162.6 1,042.3 

259.6 300.1 

279.2 116.3 

30,064.2 28,246.0

73.6 56.3 

30,137.8 28,302.3

d b" the trustee Universities Superannuation

57 to 65 were approve J 

The financial statements on pages . 
d . b half by· 

L. 
. 

d on '16 July 2007 and were s1gne on its e .

Scheme 1m1te , -

Martin Harris 

Clzairma11 

TH Merchant

Clz4 Excwtit•c 

The notes on pages 59 to 65 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 M,1rch 20ll7 

I. lbsi, of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Occupational Pension 

Schemes (Requirement to obtain Audited Accounts and a Statement from the Auditor) 

Regulations 1996 and with the guidelines set out in the Statement of Recommended Practice 

(SORP) "Financial Reports of Pension Schemes" except that transactions and fund values in 

respect of money purchase additional voluntary contributions have not been disclosed in the 

fond account and the net assets statement on the grounds that the amounts involved are not 

material when compared to the scheme as a whole. However, details of AVC transactions are 

included in note 3 to the financial statements. 

The financial statements summarise the transactions of the scheme and deal with the net assets 

at the disposal of the trustees. They do not take account of obligations to pay pensions and 

benefits which fall due after the end of the scheme year. The actuarial position of the scheme, 

which does take account of such obligations, is dealt with in the statements by the actuary  on 

pages 71 and 72 and these financial statements should be read in conjunction with them. 

2. Accounting Policies

A summary of the significant accounting policies which have been applied consistently by the 

scheme is set out below. 

Contributions & Benefits 

Contributions represent the amounts returned by the participating institutions as being those 

due to the scheme in respect of the year of account. The responsibility for ensuring the accuracy 

of contributions rests with institutions which, under the terms of the trust deed regulating USS, 

are ultimately responsible for ensuring the solvency of the scheme. Receipts under the premature 

retirement scheme and benefits payable are accounted for in the period in which they fall due. 

The principal scheme benefits are provided under the main section. The supplementary section, 

which is funded by a contribution of 0.35% of salary from the members, provides additional 

benefits payable when a member retires on the grounds of ill-health or incapacity or dies in service. 

Investment income 

Investment income is brought into account on the following bases: 

(a) Dividends, tax and interest from securities, on the date that the scheme becomes entitled to

the income;

(b) Interest on cash deposits, as it accrues;

(c) Property rental income, as it accrues;

(d) Interest on advances for property developments, which is treated as investment income in the 

fund account and forms part of the cost of the relevant development, as it accrues until the 

earlier of the development becoming a completed property or the contracted purchase price

being reached.

Property 

A completed property is one that has received an architect's certificate of practical completion 

and which is substantially let. If a property has a certificate of completion but is not substantially 

let, it is included as a completed property, provided it is outside the period of contractors' liability 

for detects and no further building works are expected. Developments in progress include any 

property which is not a completed property. 
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Rates of exchange 

A ssets and liabilities denominated in overseas currencies are translated into sterling at the rates

of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and any exchange movements on translation are 

included in the fund account as part of the change in market value of investments. 

Transfers 

Transfers to and from the fund are accounted for on the basis of amounts received and paid 

during the year. 

Investments 

Investments are included in the statement of net assets at current value at the year end.

The current values are as follows:

(a) Quoted S ecurities 

(b) Property

(c) Pooled investment vehicles 

at closing prices; these prices may be last trade prices or mid

market prices depending on the convention of the stock

exchange on which they are quoted ;

on the basis of open market value;

at unit prices or values based on the market valuation of the 

underlying assets. 

Changes in current values are shown as movements in the fund account in the year in which 

they arise. 

3. Contributions

Main section 

Employers' contributions

Members' basic contributions 

Members' additional voluntary contributions 

Supplementary section

Members' contributions

2007 

£m 

611.6 
263.2 

52.8 

927.6 

15.3 

942.9 

2006 

£m 

554.4 
238.6 

35.3 

828.3 

13.8 

842.1 

Additional voluntary contributions referred to above represent contributions made to purchase 

additional pensionable service under the rules of the scheme. 

Money purchase additional voluntary contributions

A money purchase additional voluntary contribution facility is administered by the Prudential

A ssurance Company Limited.

Individual members' contributions are deducted from their salaries and paid direct to the Prudential

by the institutions. The contributions are invested through the Prudential on behalf of the individuals 

concerned to provide additional benefits within the overall limits laid down by the Inland Revenue.

T he contributions paid and the investments purchased are not included in the accounts. 
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The value of the accumulated additional voluntar contrib . 
with a summary of the movements d .

h 

y 
. _

ut10ns at the end ot the year , together 

unng t e year, 1s as follows: 

Value at the start of the year 

Contributions from members 
Transfers in 
Income from interest and bonuses 
Payouts to members 

Value at the end of the year 

4. Transfers in 

Individual transfers in 
Group transfers in 

5. Benefits payable

Main section 

Pensions 
Lump sums on or after retirement 
Lump sums on death in service 

Supplementary section 

Pensions 
Lump sums on or after retirement 
Lump sums on death in service 

(,. P,iyments on .iccount of lea\'er, 

Individual transfers to other schemes 
Payments for members joining state scheme 

Refunds to members leaving service 

7 · Administration costs 

2007 

£m 

195.1 
32.8 

2.6 
9.7 

(19.9) 

220.3 

2007 

£m 

122.6 
19.9 

142.5 

2007 

£m 

694.6 
180.3 
12.1 

887.0 

8.9 
0.5 

9.4 

896.4 

2007 

£m 

40.8 
1.6 
2.1 

44.5 

2006 

£m 

175.2 
19.7 

2.5 
7.7 

(10.0) 

195.1 

2006 

£m 

141.5 
4.3 

145.8 

2006 

£m 

653.8 
115.7 
11.5 

781.0 

8.4 
0.2 
0.2 

8.8 

789.8 

2006 

£m 

34.6 
1.5 
1.9 

38.0 

In accordance with the trust deed the costs of . 
' managmg and d · · · 

by the trustee company, are chargeabl t USS D . 
a
_ 
n11�1stermg the scheme, incurred

h 

e O · eta1ls are given 111 th fi · l 
t e trustee company (U nivers·t" S . 

e manna statements of 
1 ies uperannuat10n S cheme Limited: Registered No. 1167127). 

61 



U'.'IIVERSITIE', SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

USS ACCOUNTS 

H. Investment income

Dividends from UK equities 

Net property income 

Income from pooled investment vehicles 

Dividends from overseas equities 

Income from UK fixed interest securities 

Income from overseas fixed interest securities 

Interest on cash deposits 

Other income 

9. Ch,mge in market value of investments

T he changes in the market value of investments are shown below. 

Securities 

Pooled investment vehicles - securities 

Pooled investment vehicles - property 

Property 

Cash deposits 

Other investment balances 

Total 

Market 

value 

2006 

£m 

25, 163.2 

610.0 

1,014.1 

1,042.3 

300.1 

28,129.7 

116.3 

28,246.0 

Purchases Proceeds 

during of sales 

the year during 

at cost the year 

£m £m 

16,455.0 (15,217.9) 

158.3 (437.2) 

216.6 (280.8) 

21.6 (11.1) 

(136.2) 

16,851.5 (16,083.2) 

2007 2006 

£m £m 

373.0 298.3 

44.2 78.7 

33.9 2.6 

257.2 207.1 

7.9 57.8 

73.1 23.2 

12.2 10.7 

12.4 8.5 

813.9 686.9 

Changes 

in value Market 

during value 

the year 2007 

£m £m 

619.4 27,019.7 

1.0 332.1 

61.1 1,011.0 

109 .8 1,162.6 

95.7 259.6 

887.0 29,785.0 

279.2 

30,064.2 

Changes in the value of investments comprise both realised gains/(losses) on investments sold 

during the year and unrealised gains/(losses) on investments held at the year end. 

Within cash deposits at 31 March 2007 are £4,892.7m of forward currency assets together with 

related liabilities of £4,923.5111. Forward currency transactions have been used to hedge part of 

the currency risk relating to overseas fixed interest and equity investments. 

I ( 1. ln\"t',tlllent m.m,1ge111ent expeme, 

Investment management expenses comprise all costs directly attributable to the scheme's 

investment activities, including the operating costs of the London Investment Office and the 

costs of management and agency services rendered by third parties. Details are given in the 

financial statements of the trustee company (Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited: 

Registered No. 1167127). 

I 1. Taxation 

UK tax 

USS is a registered pension scheme for tax purposes and is therefore not normally liable to 

income tax on income from investments directly held, nor to capital gains tax arising from the 

disposal of such investments. 
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Overseas tax 

Investment income from overseas investments may be subject to deduction oflocal withholdingtaxes. Where no double taxation agreement exists between the UK d h · · 
th · · an t e country m whiche 111come arises, the tax suffered is deducted from the income to which it relates.

12. Securities 

Quoted 

UK equities 

Overseas equities 

UK fixed interest - public sector quoted
UK fixed interest - other
Overseas fixed interest - public sector quoted
Overseas fixed interest - other

13. Pooled investment n�hicles

Securities 

Managed funds 

Unit trusts 

Property 

Unit trusts 

Property companies 

Limited partnerships 

14. Property

UK completed properties 

UK developments in progress 

Properties analysed by type: 

Freehold 

Leasehold 

2007 

£m 

11,243. l 

13,591.8 

250.4 

2.7 

1,907.2 

24.5 

27,019.7 

2007 

£m 

318.0 

14.1 

332.1 

807...J. 

2.7 

200.9 

1,011.0 

1,343.1 

2007 

£m 

l ,093.0 

69.6 

1, 162.6 

1,022.2 

140.4 

1,162.6 

2006 

£m 

10,197.2 

13,039.0 

144.7 

982.7 

779.0 

20.6 

25,163.2 

2006 

£m 

334.7 

275.3 

610.0 

896.3 

6.2 

111.6 

1,014.1 

1,624.1 

2006 

£m 

976.0 

66.3 

1,042.3 

912.4 

129.9 

1,042.3 

The completed properties and developments in progress have been valued on the b . t- k l 3 
as1s o mar ·et va ue as at 1 March 2007 and 31 March 'J()()6 f . - · · or accounts purposes by Dnvers Jonas acting asmdependent valuers. The valuations have been undertaken in accordance with the RICS A . l & Valuat10n Standards. 

ppraisa 
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15. Other investment balances

Amount due to stockbrokers

Amount due from stockbrokers

Dividends and accrued interest

16. Net current assets

Current assets

Contributions due from institutions:

employers' contr ibutions

members' basic contributions

- members' additional voluntary contributions

Other debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Current liabilities

Rents & service charges received in advance

Property revenue expenses payable 

Amount due on property purchases

Benefits payable 

Taxation creditor 

Other creditors 
Due to USS Ltd 

2007 2006 

£m £m 

(164.4) (180.0) 
296.9 160.9 

146.7 135.4 

279.2 116.3 

2007 2006 

£m £m 

60.3 55.6 
23.6 21.1 

2.9 2.1 
14.7 15.4 
22.4 9.8 

123.9 104.0 

10.8 10.8 
1.5 0.7 
3.0 3.1 

22.2 23.6 
0.1 1.5 
2.8 0.8 
9.9 7.2 

50.3 47.7 

73.6 56.3 

h d have been paid to the Scheme subsequent to the year end in

Contributions due at t e year en 

da 'th the Schedule of Contributions.
accor nee w1 1 1 

. "'006· 5.2m) in respect of certain benefits for ea: y eavers

Benefits payable mclude £1.4m (- . £ 
al 1 d based on the scheme s normal

. d Th had been c cu ate 
which have been underpa1 . ese 

. h C it has now been established that they
. b following a ruling by the H1g ourt, . retirement age ut, 

h individual's contracted retirement age.
should have been calculated based on eac 
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17. Securities on loan
Securities have been lent to the counterparties in return for fee income earned by the scheme.

Security for these loans is obtained by holding collateral in the form of cash, equities, government
bonds and letters of credit. 

Value of stock on loan at 31 March 

Value of collateral held at 31 March 

18. Financi,il commitments

Property 

Contracts placed but not provided for 

Securities 

Forward commitments for unpaid calls 
on securities and underwriting contracts 

Alternative investments 

Outstanding commitments to 
private equity partnerships 

1 l). Self inwstment 
The scheme had no employer related investments during the year. 

20. Rebted party transactions

2007 2006 

£m £m 

3,549.4 3,455.0 

4,633.4 3,609.7 

2007 2006 

£m £m 

76.2 108.1 

11.9 

505.9 

The only related party transactions are between the scheme and its trustee company and certain
employees of the trustee company through their membership of the Scheme. The trustee company 
provides administration services, the cost of which includes directors' emoluments as detailed in 
note 5 of the trustee company accounts, and investment management services to the scheme, 
charging £12.9 million and £25.2 million respectively, with a balance due from the scheme of 
£9. 9 million as at 31 March 2007. 
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STATEMENT OF TRUSTEE'S RESPONSIBILITIES i<.)r the financial statements
The audited financial statements, which are to be prepared in accordance with UK Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP), are the responsibility of the trustee. Pension
scheme regulations require the trustee to make available to scheme members, beneficiaries and
certain other parties. audited financial statements for each scheme year which:
• show a true and fair view of the financial transaction of the scheme during the scheme year

and of the amount and disposition at the end of the scheme year of the assets and liabilities,
other than liabilities to pay pensions and benefits after the end of the scheme year, and

• contain the information specified in the Schedule to the Occupational Pension Schemes
(Requirement to obtain Audited Accounts and a Statement from the Auditor) Regulations
1996, including a statement whether the accounts have been prepared in accordance with the

Statement of Recommended Practice ''Financial Reports of Pension Schemes".
The trustee has supervi ed the preparation of the financial statements and has agreed suitable
accounting policies, to be applied consistently, making estimates and judgements on a reasonable
and prudent basis. The trustee is also responsible for making available each year, commonly in
the form of a trustee's annual report, information about the scheme prescribed by pensions
legislation, which it should ensure is consistent with the financial statements it accompanies.
The trustel' also has certain responsibilities in respect of contributions which are set out in the
statement of trustee's responsibilities accompanying the trustee's summary of contributions.
The trustee has a general responsibility for ensuring that adequate accounting records are kept
and for taking such steps as are reasonably open to it to safeguard the assets of the scheme and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities, including the maintenance of appropriate
internal controls.

Signed on behalf of the trustee on 26 July 2007

Martin Harris
C I wirm ,w
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STATEMENT OF TRUSTEE'S RESPONSIBILITIES in respect of contributionsThe trustee is re 'bi . . spons1 e under pensions legislation f . mamtamed and from time to t' . d or ensurmg that there is prepared ime revise a schedule of c t 'b . ' contributions (other than v 1 . . on n utJons showing the rates of- o untary contnbut10ns) payable t d h ot the employer and the active memb c h h 
owar s t e scheme by or on behalf. . . ers o, t e sc eme and th d b contnbut10ns are to be paid Th t . e ates on or efore which such. . . e rustee is also responsible fi k . -received m respect of any active m b f h or eepmg records ot contributionsem er o t e scheme and fc made to the scheme in accordance with h h d 1 '_ 
or e�sunng that contributions aret e sc e u e ot contnbut10ns. 

Trustee's summary f "b . o contr1 ut10ns payable under th h . scheme year ended 31 March 2007 
e sc edule tn respect of theThis summary of contributions has been prepared b and is . . . sets out the employer and b . . y the respons1b1hty of the trustee Itmem er contnbutwns p bi h 31 March 2007 under the schedule of .b . 

aya . e to t e scheme from 1 April 2006 to Th contn ut10ns certified b h e scheme auditor reports on cont 'b . y t e actuary on 31 January 2006.n ut10ns payable under th h d l 
. statement about contributions. e sc e u e 111 their auditors'

Contributions payable under the ,chedule in res•1ect l>t. tl1, . ·} · t L \l 1eme year
Employer 
Normal contributionsSpecial contributions Additional contributions
Member 
Nor mal contributions Additional contributions

Contributions payable under the schedule (as reported on by the scheme auditor)
R T · L'Co11c1 iat1on of contributions p.1v,1blc undl'r th , . -payable to the scheme in . , . , � h L SL hl'dule to total contributionsi tspect ot t e scheme year

Contributions payable under the schedule 
�:;t�:t

u::o:s payable in addition to those payable under the schedulep rt�d o_n by the scheme auditor): Member additionalvolun�ary c_ontnbut10ns (excluding those paid to the Prudential) Total contnbut10ns (i I d. reported in the t
- nc

l
u mg premature retirement scheme receipts)111anc1a statements 

fn addition to th t l . . 

,Cm
610.0

1.4
28.4

276.0 
') --.J

918.3

£m
918.3

52.8

971.1
e ota contributions reported in the fi additional voluntary contributi 'd b mancral statements, there were £32.Smons par Y members to th p d · . note 3 to the financial statements. e ru ent1al. Details are included in

Signed on behalf of the trustee on 26 July 2007
Martin HarrisCh,1ir111m1
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT to the trustee of the Universities Superan11u,1tion Scheme
We have audited the financial statements of the Universities Superannuation Scheme for the year
ended 31 March 2007 which comprise the fund account, the net assets statement and the related
notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.
This report is made solely to the scheme trustee in accordance with the Pensions Act 1995 and
Regulations made thereunder. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the scheme trustee those matters we are required to state to it in an auditors' report and for no 

other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the scheme trustee for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of trustee and auditors
As described in the Statement of trustee's responsibilities on page 66, the scheme trustee is
responsible for obtaining an annual report, including audited financial statements prepared in
accordance with applicable law and K Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice).

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and
regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements show a true and fair view
and contain the information specified in the Schedule to the Occupational Pension Schemes
(Requirement to obtain Audited Accounts and a Statement from the Auditor) Regulations 1996
made under the Pensions Act 1995. We also report to you if, in our opinion, we have not
received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
We read the trustee's report and other information contained in the annual report and consider
whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. We consider the implications for
our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with
the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

BJsis o f audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes
an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by or on behalf o f the trustee in
the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the scheme's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which
we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements.
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( )pinion
In our opinion the financial statements:
- show a true and fair view, in accordance with UK Generally Accepted A . p . o

f
f th

h
e financial transactions o f the scheme during the scheme year ended ;;o;::�:g ')Q�;t�c�

O t e amount and disposition at th t d f · � n 
p . d b 

a ate o its assets and liabilities ( other than liabilities toay pens10ns an enefits after the end of the scheme year); and - ;ont�n t:e �nformation specified in Regulation 3 of, and the Schedule to, the Occupationalens_10n c emes (Requirement to obtain Audited Accounts and a Statem Auditor) Regulations 1996 made under the Pensions Act 1995. 
ent trom the

KPMG LLP
Chartered .1cco11nta11ts 

Registered Auditor 

26 July 2007
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' STATEMENT ABOUT CONTRIBUTIONS made under Regulation -+ of T he Occupational Pension Schemes (Requirement to obtain Audited Accounts and a Statement from the Auditor) Regulations 1996. to the trustee of the Uni, L'rsities Superannuation Scheme. 
We have examined the summary of contributions payable under the schedule of contributions to the Universities Superannuation Scheme in respect of the scheme year ended 31 March 2007. which is set out on page 6 7. 

his statement is made solely to the scheme's trustee, in accordance with the Pensions Act 1995 and Regulations made thereunder. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to the scheme's trustee those matters we are required to state to it in an auditors' statement about contributions and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the scheme's trustee for our work, for this statement, or for the opinions we have formed. 
Rc,pectiw responsibilities of trustee and auditors As described on page 67, the scheme's trustee is responsible, under the Pensions Act 200-+, for ensuring that there is prepared, maintained and from time to time revised a schedule of contributions which sets out the rates and due dates of certain contributions payable towards the scheme by or on behalf of the employer and the active members of the scheme. T he trustee has a general responsibility for procuring that contributions are made to the scheme in accordance with the schedule of contributions. 

It is our responsibility to provide a statement about contributions paid to the scheme and to report our opinion to you. 
We read the trustee's report and other information in the annual report and consider whether it is consistent with the summary of contributions. We consider the implications for our statement if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the summary of contributions. 

Uasi, of statement about nmtributions We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to give reasonable assurance that contributions reported in the summary of contributions have been paid in accordance with the relevant requirements. For this purpose, the work that we carried out included examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts of contributions payable to the scheme and the timing of those payments. Our statement about contributions is required to refer to those exceptions which come to our attention in the course of our work. 
St.1tement about contributiom pay.1ble under the schedule In our opinion contributions for the scheme year ended 31 March 2007 as reported in the summary of contributions and payable under the schedule have in all material respects been paid at least 

in accordance with the schedule of contributions certified by the actuary on 31 January 2006. 
KPMG LLP 
Ch,1rtcred .4ffo1111t,111ts 

Registered Auditor 

26 July 2007 
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ACTUARIAL STATEMENT :l · Sc hen . . mace tor the purpose, of Regulation I-+ of the Occupational Pensionies (Mmmmm Fundmg Requirement and Actuarial Valuations) Regulations 1 'J'J<,.
Name of scheme· u 

· .. 
. 

. mverstttes Superannuation SchemeEffective date of valuation: 31 March 2005I. Compli,mce \\'ith minimum funding requiremcmIn my opinion, on the effective date the value of the assets ot· the sche d - . . . me excee s 120% of theamount ot the hab1hties of the scheme...., Valu,nion principles T he scheme's assets an� liabilities are valued in accordance with section 56(3) of the Pensions
ta���::::) t�e��:��::���6p:::i::e S:�:::;

0
�;�:i:1:i��e:::d:f n�uq11

u
1

irfieumdent and Actuarial (GN">7) d · n mg r eqmrement- ' prepare and published by the Institute of Actuaries and the Faculty t-A . 

Mercer Human Resource Consulting LimitedManchester M2 --1-DW December 2005 
Note: 

o ctuanes.

ES Topper Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries 
The valuation �f the amount of the liabilities of the Scheme does not re . . . - . . .. the purchase ot annuities, if the Scheme were to h v b , 

fleet the cost ot secunng those hab1lrt1es bya e een \\Ound up on the effective date of the valuJtion.
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ACTUARIAL STATEMENT nude for the purposes otRcgul.1tio11 JO of the Occupational Pemion 

Schen1t:, (Minimum Funding Requirement and Actuarial Valuations) Regulations 199(1. 

Name of scheme: Universities Superannuation Scheme 

Effective date of valuation: 31 March 2005 

I. Security of prospecriw rights

In my opinion, the resources of the scheme are likely in the normal course of events to meet in 

full the liabilities of the scheme as they fall due. T his statement assumes the scheme continues 

and does not mean that should the scheme wind up there would be sufficient assets to provide 

the full accrued benefits. 

I have made assumptions consistent with market values, prospective investment returns and 

economic conditions at the effective date. Variations in markets may mean divergence from 

those assumptions and changes in values of assets such that this statement would no longer be 

true unless different assumptions are made or contributions increased at or before the next 

valuation. T he institutions' abilities to meet future contribution requirements are outside the 

scope of my investigation. In giving this opinion, I have assumed that the following amounts 

will be paid to the scheme: 

Description of contributions 

Employer contributions: 14% of salaries per annum 

Member contributions: 6.35'Yr> of salary per annum 

Subject to review at future actuarial valuations. 

2. Summary of methods and ,tssumptions med

Valuation method Projected unit 

Investment return - past service 

- future service

4.5% per annum 

6.2% per annum 

Salary growth 3.9% per annum 

Pension increases 2.9% per annum 

Further details of the methods and assumptions used are set out m my actuarial valuation 

addressed to the Trustee dated December 2005. 

Mercer Human Resource Consulting Limited 

Manchester M2 4DW 

December 2005 
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FIVE YEAR SUMMARY FUND - ACCOUNTS t<.)r years ended 31 March

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 

Contributions and benefits 

Contributions 

PRS receipts 

Transfers in 

Benefits payable
Pensions 

Lump sums 

Transfers out 

Refunds 

Investment income 
(net of investment management costs) 

Administration costs of the trustee 
(excluding investment management costs) 

Changes in value of investments 

Investments of the fund (restated) 
(at current values) at 31 March 

Securities 

Pooled investment vehicles
Property 

Life assurance policies 

Cash deposits 

Other investment balances 

Membership numbers at 31 March 

Contributing members 

Pensioners 

Deferred pensioners 
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£m £m £m £m £m 

9 -.J.3 842 784 698 661 
28 26 32 36 40 

143 146 230 110 115 

1, 114 1,014 1,046 844 816 

704 662 615 562 524 
193 128 127 122 121 

42 36 56 43 41 
2 2 2 2 2 

941 828 800 729 688 

789 666 572 542 541 

12.9 11.8 9.1 9.3 7.6 

887 5,722 1,485 3,215 (5,036) 

27,020 25,163 19,037 16,876 12,914 
1,343 1,624 559 539 477 
1,163 1,043 1, 702 1,553 1,650 

4 15 
259 300 281 350 396 
279 116 105 88 86 

30,064 28,246 21,684 19,410 15,538 

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 

121,200 115,600 110,000 103,100 98,400 
47,200 44,700 42,200 39,200 37,000 
70,700 66,100 62,700 56,700 51,400 

239, 100 226,400 214,900 199,000 186,800 
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS for the year ended 31 M,irch 2!Hl7 
The directors submit their report and the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2007. 

Principal acti\"ity 
The company, which is limited by guarantee and does not have a share capital, was established 
to undertake and discharge the office of trustee of any superannuation scheme but in particular 
to act as the trustee of the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS). 

Operating costs and re,·ie\\" of ,JCti\"ities 
The operating costs for the year amounted to £38,066,000 this amount being recoverable from 
USS. This compares with £32,462,000 for the year ended 31 March 2006 and represents a 9% 
increase in administration costs and a 22'Xi increase in investment management costs. 

The decision by the internally managed fund from June 2006 to pay for stockbrokers' research 
costs separately, with execution carried out on a commission basis , has resulted in an increase in 
investment costs compared to last year of £5,261,000. This unbundling of commission payments 
means that the majority of the internally managed fund's research costs, previously payable as part 
of stockbrokers' commission and included in the book cost of the fund's assets in the USS 
financial statements, are now recognised as a charge in the accounts of USS Ltd. They are not ,  
therefore, new costs, although they appear in the accounts of USS Ltd for the first time. 

The move to paying for research separately makes the cost of running the fund more transparent 
and reduces costs to the fund overall. The reduction in payments by certain stockbrokers for 
equipment and services for USS Ltd for investment management purposes, which ceased at the 
same time as unbundling was introduced, has also resulted in an increase in investment costs 

compared to last year. This, again, does not represent an increase in costs co the fund overall as 
it results in reduced commission rates payable through the fund. 
Fees paid to the fund's external managers are considerably less than in the previous year due to 
a change in the way that performance fees are to be paid to one of the managers, Capital Partners. 
Petiormance fees payable to Capital Partners in any year are restricted in the investment 
management contract and can be considerably less than the fees earned in the year. Fees earned 
in the year to 31 March 2006 were provided for in full in the accounts but, following a change 
in the way the assets are managed, fees payable after June 2008 will be recognised through the 
accounts of USS and have not been provided for in these accounts. 

The bulk of the increase in administration costs relates to the increase in the Pension Protection 

Fund (PPF) levy which was paid for the first time last year. The increase is partly due to the 
increase in the number of members in USS but mainly results from the increase in the levy rate 
calculated by the PPF. Increased staffing, in line with the demanding systems development 
workload being undertaken in Liverpool, has also contributed to the increase in costs. 

Considerable time is being spent by staff in the Liverpool office across all departments in seeking 
to implement the new pensions administration software UPM2 from Civica. The previous 
version of the sofi:ware has been in place since 2000 and the new system will capitalise on the 
technological advances since then to improve the effectiveness of operations in Liverpool . 
Implementation is scheduled for January 2008. Work has also commenced during the year on 
plans to enhance the USS website and create a secure intranet and extranet, taking advantage of 
the capabilities ofUPM2, which was designed with web applications in mind. 
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The London ff · b ·1d· d . o Ice IS UI mg an alternative investments team and the team has been worki . urmg the year to _ implement the fund's strategy of increasing its exposure to alternati::::es;ments. Th�se mvestments involve additional administrative effort for both offices and staff� ;nnm� to imp_le�ent systems to support their administration and provide more effectivecapa i it1es wr momtormg and control. 
During t.he yea.r the trustee company carried out a review of the funding of the s h . COnrnl

b
tat1on Wlth the participating employers, to determine whether an increa:e 

e:\�n 

contn ut1on rate should be made · cl t" h e 

_ h . m a vance o t e next valuation at 31 March ?0()8 As 1 ot t e review, the trustee comp . cl d - . a resu t
actuarial cost of . . any mtro uce a charge, payable by the employers, for the 

cl . providmg unreduced benefits on early retirements below the age of 60 and has propose an mcrease m the retirement age for al]. new entrants to age 65 \vh· h · b · considered by the USS · · . . . IC 1s emg
char e ha d . JOmt negotiatmg commi:tee. The introduction of the early retirement
the 

g s ease any m�mediate pressure on the tuture service contribution rate, and as a resultemployer contnbut10n rate remained unchanged and \ II . b . l I v1 next e reviewed as part of th actuana va uation of the scheme at 31 March 2008. e 
Fixed assets The details of movements in fixed assets are set out in note 14 to th Directors The directors of the company during the year were as follows:

Sir Martin Harris, chairmanProfessor John Bull, deputy clwir111a11MG Butcher 
Professor Sir I vor Crewe

Mrs V Holmes 

H RJacobs 
Lady Merrison 
M S  Potts 

e accounts. 

Professor David Eastwood (from 1.1.07)S Egan (to 31. U.06) D Guppy 
Professor Charles Sutcliffe 
Baroness Warwick of Undercliffe 

Statement of Directors. ResponsibilitiesCompany law requires the d" . - . . - !rectors to prepare financial statements for each financial year wh· hgive a true and ta1r view of the state of affairs of the company and of th . ic 
company for that · d I . e operatmg costs of the

. . per10 . n preparmg those financial statements, the directors are required to• select suitable accounting policies and then apply th . 1 L em consistent y; • make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed d d' J • subject to any 111ateria]epartures isc osed and explained in the financial statements;• prepare the financial statements on the going concern b = asis unless it 1s mappropriate topresume that the company will continue in business.The directors are responsible f k bi or ·eepmg proper accounting records which disclose with;:::o

t:: ;
n

accur;cy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure - anc1a statements comply with the Companies Act 1985 Th 1 . tor safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for takin 

. ey are a so responsible 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. g reasonable steps for the 

75 



UNIVERSITIES SUPERANNUATION SCHEME USS LTD ACCOUNTS 

Disclosure of int<.1rm,1tio11 to auditors fa roval of this Directors' report confirm that, so The directors who held office at the date o PPd_ . i: 
. f which the company's auditors h h . o relevant au It m1ormat10n o far as they a�e eac awar�, t ere �:;taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a directo,r are unaware, and each director . . £ . d to establish that the company s to make themselves aware of any relevant audit m ormat10n an auditors are aware of that information. 

Auditor'i . . h . .11. to continue in office and a resolutionTh d.t KPMG LLP have md1cated t eir w1 mgness e au 1 ors, ' 1 · concerning their reappointment will be proposed at the annual genera meetmg. 
By order of the board 

IM Sherlock 
Company Secretary 
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STATEMENT OF OPERATING COSTS for the year ended 3 I M,1rch 2()( 17
2007 2006 Personnel costs Note £000 £000 Employees' emoluments 4 8,794 8,067 Directors' emoluments and expenses 5 455 427 Recruitment, training and welfare 585 433 

Premises costs 9,834 8,927 Rent, rates, service charges and utilities 1,745 1,-68 Depreciation and maintenance 292 286 
Investment costs 2,037 1,854 Securities managementSecurities research costs 6 7,834 10,357 Property management 7 5,261 Custodial services 1,800 1,608 1,423 1,396 Legal costs - property management 425 521 - securities management 209 103 Property valuation Investment performance measurement 128 124 90 79 Costs met by third parties 8 (22) (11)

17,148 14,177 Other costs l Pension Protection F und�evy 3,142 2,551 Computer and information services costs 9 2,545 2,499 Professional fees Travel and car costs 10 1,647 1,480 Office equipment 596 510 Telephones and postage 285 281 229 298 Institution liaison and member communication 213 309 Printing and stationery 169 185 Pension f rotection fund - general levy 137 Pension rotection fund - admin levy 133 Insurances Sundry expenditure 133 144 FSA membership 67 54 Auditors' remuneration 63 61 (Profit)/loss on disposal of fixed assets 11 55 53 4 (23) Pensions Regulator Levy 133 Costs met by third parties 8 (371) (1,031)
Total operating costs 9,047 7,504 

13 38,066 32,462
A separate statement of total recognised gains and losses has not been presented as all gains andlosses are included in the Statement of Operating Costs.The notes on pages 80 to 88 form part of these financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEET ,is at 31 March .2!lll7 

2007 2006 

Note £000 £000 

Assets 

Fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets 14 980 1,204 

Current assets 

Debtors 15 12,339 8,126 

Cash at bank and in hand 2 3 

12,341 8,129 

Total assets 13,321 9,333 

Liabilities 

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 16 13,321 9,333 

Total liabilities 13,321 9,333 

The notes on pages 80 to 88 form pan of these financial statements. 

The financial statements on pages 77 to 88 were approved by the board of directors on 26 July 2007 
and were signed on its behalf by: 

Martin Harris 

Chairman 

John Bull 

Deputy Chairman 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT - . t01 the year ended 31 March .2( )( J7

2007 2006 
Operating activities Note £000 £000 

Cash received from USS 
Operating costs paid 35,333 28,713 

17 (34,901) (28,332) 
Net cash inflow from operating activities

432 381 

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of tangible fixed assets

Sale of tangible fixed assets
(465) (457)

32 76

(433) (381)
(Decrease)/Increase in cash

(1) 

The notes on pages 80 to 88 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS for thl' yl'ar ended 31 March 2on7

1. The company, which is limited by guarantee and does not have a share capital, has no beneficial
interest in the investments and other assets held in its name but not included in its balance sheet,
since it holds these as the trustee of USS.

2. Format of accounts
A Profit and Loss Account is not presented with these accounts as such a statement is inappropriate
to the operations of the company. The costs incurred and the method by which they are recovered
are therefore set out in the Statement of Operating Costs.

A separate note of historical cost profits and losses is not required as the accounts are prepared
under the historical cost convention.

3. Accounting policies
Accounting convention

The accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention and on the accruals basis
and comply with applicable Accounting Standards in the United Kingdom which have been
consistently applied.

Depreciation of fixed assets 

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of fixed assets on a straight line basis over
the expected economic lives of the assets concerned. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are:

%
Office equipment 15
Alterations to rented premises 20

Computer equipment 20 and 33 1/, 

Motor cars 25
Computer software 33 1/, 

Operating leases 

Rental costs under operating leases are charged on a straight line basis over the lease term in the
Statement of Operating Costs.

Pensions 

USS Ltd participates m the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined benefit
scheme which is externally fi.mded and contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The
assets of the scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. USS Ltd is unable to
identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and
reasonable basi\ and therefore, as required by FRS 17 "Retirement benefits". accounts for the
scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged to the
income and expenditure account represents the contributions payable to the scheme in respect
of the accounting period.
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-I-. Employees' emoluments
The average weekly number of persons employed by thecompany during the year (excluding directors) was
Staff costs for the above persons were:
Wages and salaries
Pension costs (superannuation contriburions)Sona! security costs (national insurance contributions)Restructuring costs 

Emoluments of the chief executive
TH Merchant

2007 

178

£000 

7,234
823
720
17

8,794

2007 

£000 

229

2006 

173

£000 

6,508
723
637
199

8,067

2006 

£000 

218

The emoluments of the chief executive are shown on the same b . f h. . USS Ltd's pension contributions for th h. f . . 
as1s as or igher paid staff.

. -
e c ie executive amounted to £31,853 (2006: £14,784).�e

l
m

d
u_neration -ot. other higher paid staff excluding employer's pensionme u mg benehts 111 kind: contributions but

£70,001 £80,000 2007 2006 

£80,001 £90,000 J 

£90,001 £100,000 4
£ 100, ()() 1 £ I I 0,000 5
£110,001 £120,000 3
£120,001 £130,000 4
£130,001 £ 140,000
£140,001 £150,()()(1 3
£160,()() 1 £170,000
.ll 70,001 £180,000
£190,001 £200,000
£210,001 £220,000
£250,001 £260,000
£3--1-0,001 £350,000
£390,0() 1 £4(HJ,0(HJ
£440,001 £450,000

The salary figures above include bonus a m - . 
(2006: £751 "">69) B h h b 

p y ents tor the Investment staff, totalling £1,097, 165,- J . ot t e onus scheme and the annual outcome areremuneration committee. reviewed by the
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5. Directors' emoluments and expenses 2007 2006 

£000 £000 

382 371 
40 40 
33 16 

Fees 
Employer's costs - national insurance contributions

455 427 Expenses 

. . . ved b the Joint Negotiating Committee andDirectors are remunerated on a basis which is appro y h k f USS Ltd and their legalis in accordance with the contribution which they make to t e wor o 
responsibilities. 

. . d b half of directors. As at 31 March 20( )7 seven of the directorsNo pension contnbuuons are ma e on e . ent with the institutions. b f USS either as pensioners or through their employm are mem ers o 

Directors' fees charged to the accounts reflect small :it:;:;:t:!:\::;
n

:�::����n;:
l
�t�:::t:the accounts at each year end and the amounts pa1 . . t- h of the last two years were as follows:

111 respect o eac 

Sir Martin Harris (L"lwir,11011) 
H RJacobs Professor John Bull (deputy clwim1<111) 
Mrs V Holmes 
M S  Potts Lady Merrison Professor Charles Sutcliffe 
MG Butcher Baroness Wan.vick of Undercliffe 
D Guppy Professor Sir lvor Crewe 
S Egan Professor David Eastwood 
Sir Graeme Davies 
AS Bell J W D Trythall Sir Howard Newby 

(1. Securities m,111,1gement 
External manager base fees 
External manager performance fees 
Profe,sional fees 
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2007 

£000 

53 
57 
46 
45 
30 
30 
27 
27 
24 19 12 9 

3 

382 

2007 

£000 

7,817 
(149) 166 
7,834 

2006 

£000 

31 
71 
32 
18 
30 
25 
27 
13 
24 
11 

2 
45 
16 
16 
10 

371 

2006 

£000 

7,674 
2,338 

345 
10,357 
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Performance foes of £2,338,000 were accrued for Capital Partners, one of the external fund 
managers, at 31 March 2006. During the year ended 31 March 2007 performance fees of 
£611,000 were paid, the amount payable in any year being restricted in the investment 
management contract. A further payment of performance fees of £1,578,000 is expected to be 
made in the year to 31 March 2008 and i s  included in creditors. In July 2007, Capital Partners 
(3) Foreign Investors Fund was formed which took over the bulk of the assets previously
managed by Capital Partners. USS is a limited partner in this partnership and the value of that
investment shown in the USS accounts will reflect deductions made by the partnership for
perform:mce and base tees. The balance of the 2006 performance foes and performance fees for
2007 will not now be payable by USS Ltd and so £149.000 has been written back.

7. Securities research costs
Securities research costs represent the costs paid by the internally managed fund to its brokers 
for research. Prior to 1 June 2006, the cost of research by brokers was included in the commissions paid to them and was included in the accounts of USS. Since that date the majority 
of commissions paid to brokers have been solely for execution. 

8. Costs met by third partiesCosts met by third parties represent the amount paid by certain stockbrokers for the purchase ofequipment and services for USS Ltd for investment management purposes out of the commission paid to them by USS. ,f..'..... f , ,
9. Computer and information services costs

Investment information services Computer running costs 
Investment accounting services 
Software depreciation 
Hardware depreciation 

Computer bureau fees 

10. Professional fees

Actuarial 
Legal 

Committee members (other than directors) Taxation 
Member medicals Public relations 
Salary surveys Other 
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2007 2006 

£000 £000 

1,279 1,154 667 622 278 260 233 312 73 129 15 22 

2,545 2,499 

2007 2006 

£000 £000 

797 791 516 376 113 111 95 57 43 50 18 17 1 19 64 59 
1,647 1,480 
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1 1. Auditors· remuneration 2007 2006 

£000 £000 

USS 
50 48 

USS Ltd 
5 5 

55 53 

Remuneration of the company's auditors (KPMG LLP) for provision of services other than for

the audit of USS and USS Ltd was £2,500 for tracing overseas pensioner members (2006: £3,500

for advice on taxation and £ 4. 0()0 for actuarial training).

12. Value Added Tax

USS Ltd is registered for Value Added Tax activities and recovers a proportion of the input tax

on administrative expenditure directly attributable to the scheme's investment activities.

13. Total operating costs - recoverable from USS 2007 2006 

£000 £000 

Investment management costs 

Investment costs 
17, 148 14,177 

Personnel costs 
4,655 4,085 

Premises costs 
1, 188 1,119 

Other costs 
2,167 1,279 

25, 158 20,660 

Other administration costs 

Personnel costs 
5,179 4,842 

Premises costs 
849 735 

Other costs 
6,880 6,225 

12,908 11,802 

38,066 32,462 

Investment management costs are those costs which are directly attributable to investment activities. 

Included in operating costs is a charge for depreciation of £653,000 (2006: £789,000) as set out 

in note 14. 

All of the operating costs are recoverable from USS , which at 31 March 2007 had total assets in 

excess of £30 billion. 
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14. Tmgible fixed ,1ssets Alterations 

to rented Computer Computer Office 

premises equipment software equipment 

Cost 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 2006 2,105 1,777 2,169 1,529 

Additions 21 83 258 59 

Disposals 

At 31 March 2007 2, 126 1,860 2,427 1,588 

Accumulated Depreciation 

At 1 April 2006 1,871 1,671 1,847 1,212 

Charge for year 164 73 233 98 

Disposals 

At 31 March 2007 2,035 1,744 2,080 1,310 

Net Book Value 

31 March 2007 91 116 347 278 

Net Book Value 

31 March 2006 234 106 322 317 

15. Debtors

Due from USS 

Prepayments 

Other debtors 

16. Creditors - amounts f:1lling due within one ye,1r

Accrued expenditure 

Other creditors 

Taxation and social security 

17. Reconciliation of operating costs paid

Operating costs - recoverable from USS 

Increase in creditors 

Profit/(Loss) on sale of tangible fixed assets 

Depreciation 

Increase in debtors (excluding USS ) 

Operating costs paid 

85 

Motor 

cars Total 

£000 £000 

373 7,953 

44 465 

(87) (87)

330 8,331 

148 6,749 

85 653 

(51) (51)

182 7,351 

148 980 

225 1,204 

2007 2006 

£000 £000 

9,910 7,177 

2,402 922 

27 27 

12,339 8,126 

2007 2006 

£000 £000 

7,023 5,606 

5,531 3, 122 

767 605 

13,321 9,333 

2007 2006 

£000 £000 

38,066 32,462 

(3, 988) (3,393) 

(4) 23

(653) (789)

1,480 29

34,901 28,332 
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18. ( 'lper,lting k,1se commitments

USS Ltd is committed to making future annual payments under operating leases which expire

as follows: 
2007 2006 

£000 £000 

Less than one year 5 10 

Between two and five years 18 13 

Over five years 1,253 1,211 

The payments relate to ongoing rent, rates and equipment leasing commitments in respect of 

USS Ltd's offices in Liverpool and London. 

19. Pension costs

The company participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined benefit

scheme which is externally fimded and contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The

assets of the scheme are held in a separate fund administered by the trustee, Universities

Superannuation Scheme Limited. The appointment of directors to the board of the trustee is

determined by the company's Articles of Association. Four of the directors are appointed by

Universities UK; three are appointed by the University and College Union, of whom at least

one must be a USS pensioner member; one is appointed by the Higher Education Funding

Council; and a minimum of two and a maximum of four are co-opted directors appointed by

the management committee. Under the scheme trust deed and rules, the employer contribution

rate is determined by the trustee, acting on actuarial advice.

The company is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme 

on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FR.S 17 "Retirement benefits", 

accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount 

charged to the income ::md expenditure account represents the contributions payable to the 

scheme in respect of the accounting period. 

The latest actuarial valuation of the scheme was at 31 March 2005. The valuation was carried 

out using the projected unit method. The assumptions which have the most significant effect 

on the result of the valuation are those relating to the rate of return on investments (i.e. the 

valuation rate of interest), the rates of increase in salary and pensions and the assumed rates of 

mortality. In relation to the past service liabilities the financial assumptions were derived from 

market yields prevailing at the valuation date. It was assumed that the valuation rate of interest 

would be 4.5'X, per annum, salary increases would be 3.9% per annum (plus an additional 

allowance for increases in salaries due to age and promotion and a further amount of £800m of 

liabilities to reflect recent experience) and pensions would increase by 2.9?1, per annum. In 

relation to the future service liabilities it was a.sumed that the valuation rate of interest would 

be 6.2% per annum, including an additional investment return assumption of 1.7% per annum, 

salary increases would be 3. 9% per annum (also plus an allowance for increases in salaries due to 

age and promotion) and pensions would increase by 2. 9'li, per annum. 

Standard mortality tables were used as follows: 

Pre-retirement mortality PA92 rated down 3 years 

Post-retirement mortality PA92 (c = 2020) for all retired and non-retired members 
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Use of these mortality tables reasonably reflects the actual USS experience but also provides an 

element of conservatism to allow for further small improvements in mortality rates. The assumed 

life expectations on retirement at age 65 are: 

Males 19.8 years 

Females 22.8 years 

At the valuation date, the value of the assets of the scheme was £21,740 million and the value 

of the past service liabilities was £28,308 million indicating a deficit of £6,568 million. The 

assets therefore were sufficient to cover 77% of the benefits which had accrued to members after 

allowing for expected future increases in earnings. 

The actuary also valued the scheme on a number of other bases as at the valuation date. Using 

the Minimum Funding Requirement prescribed assumptions introduced by the Pensions Act 

1995, the scheme was 126% funded at that date; under the Pension Protection Fund regulations 

introduced by the Pensions Act 2004 it was 110% funded; on a buy-out basis (i.e. assuming the 

Scheme had discontinued on the valuation date) the assets would have been approximately 74•y,, 

of the amount necessary to secure all the USS benefits with an insurance company; and using 

the FR..S 17 formula as if USS was a single employer scheme, the actuary estimated that the funding 

level would have been approximately 90%. 

Since 31 March 2( )05 the financial security of the scheme has improved and the actuary has 

estimated that the funding level has increased from 77% at 31 March 2rn 15 to 91 % at 31 March 

2007. This improvement in the scheme's financial security is due primarily to the investment 

return on the scheme's assets since 31 March 2005 being higher than allowed for in the funding 

assumptions. On the FRS 17 basis, the actuary estimated that the funding level at 31 March 2007 

was above 109% and on a buy-out basis was approximately 84%. 

The institution contribution rate required for future service benefits alone at the date of the 

valuation was 14.3% of pensionable salaries but the trustee company, on the advice of the actuary, 

decided to maintain the institution contribution rate at 14% of pensionable salaries. 

Surpluses or deficits \vhich arise at future valuations may impact on the company's future 

contribution commitment. The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure 

the scheme liabilities are set out below: 

Assumption Change in assumption 

Valuation rate of interest Increase/ decrease by 0.5% 

Rate of pension increases Increase/ decrease by 0.5% 

Rate of salary growth Increase/ decrease by 0.5'X, 

Rate of mortality More prudent assumption 

(mortality used at last 

actuarial valuation, rated 

down by a further year) 

Impact on scheme liabilities 

Decrease/increase by £2.2 billion 

Increase/ decrease by £1. 7 billion 

Increase/ decrease by £0.5 billion 

Increase by £0.8 billion 

USS is a "last man standing" scheme so that in the event of the insolvency of any of the 

participating employers in USS, the amount of any pension fimding shortfall (which cannot 

otherwise be recovered) in respect of that employer will be spread across the remammg 

participant employers and reflected in the next actuarial valuation of the scheme. 
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The trustee believes that over the long-term equity investment and investment in selected 

alternative asset classes will provide superior returns to other investment classes. The management 

structure and targets set are designed to give the fund a bias towards equities through portfolios 

that are diversified both geographically and by sector. The trustee recognises that it would be 

possible to select investments producing income flows broadly similar to the estimated liability 

cash flows. However, in order to meet the long-term funding objective within a level of 

contributions that it considers the employers would be willing to make, the trustee has agreed 

to take on a degree of investment risk relative to the liabilities. This taking of investment risk 

seeks to target a greater return than the matching assets would provide whilst maintaining a 

prudent approach to meeting the fund's liabilities. 

Before deciding to take investment risk relative to the liabilities, the trustee receives advice from 

its investment consultant and the scheme actuary, and considers the Yiews of the employers. The 

strong positive cash flow of the scheme means that it is not necessary to realise investments to 

meet liabilities. The trustee believes that this, together with the ongoing flow of new entrants 

into the scheme and the strength of covenant of the employers enables it to take a long-term 

view of its investments. Short-term volatility of returns can be tolerated and need not feed 

through directly to the contribution rate. The actuary has confirmed that the scheme's cash flow 

is likely to remain positive for the next ten years or more. 

The next formal triennial actuarial valuation is due as at 31 March 2008. The contribution rate 

will be reviewed as part of each valuation. 

The total pension cost for the company was £822, 791 (2006: £723,034). The contribution rate 

payable by the company was 14';[, of pensionable salaries. 

21 I. Related party transactions 
There are no related party transactions other than transactions between the trustee company and 

the scheme. The trustee company provides administration and investment management servict'S 

to the scheme charging £12.9 million and £25.2 million respectively, with a balance due from 

the scheme of £9.9 million at 31 March 2007. 

21 . Special purpose companies 

USS Ltd owns the share capital of a number of special purpose companies to aid the efficient

administration of fund investments. Their results have not been consolidated with USS Ltd

because they are considered to be assets of the fund. Full details of these companies may be

obtained by \Hiring to the Company Secretary of USS Ltd, Mr I M Sherlock, at Royal Liver

Building, Liverpool L3 1 PY. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

to the members of Uniwrsities Superannuation Scheme Limited 

We have audited the financial statements of Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited for the 

year ended 31 March 2007 ,vhich comprise the Statement of Operating Costs, the Balance Sheet, 

the Cash Flow Statement and the related notes. These financial statements have been prepared 

under the accounting poli ies set out therein. 

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 

of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for 

no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume rt'sponsibility 

to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, 

for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respectiw re,ponsibilities ot- directors md .1uditnr, 

As described in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilitie on page 75, the company's directors 

are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in ,lC<.:ordance with applicable law 

and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and 

regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view 

and are properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you 

whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors' Report is consistent with the 

financial statements. 

In addition, we report to you iC in our opinion, the company has not kept proper accounting 

records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, 

or if information specified by law regarding directors' remuneration and other transactions is not 

disclosed. 

We read the Directors' Report and consider the implications for our report if we become aware 

of any apparent misstatements within it. 

Basis of audit opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) 

issued by the Auditing PrJctices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence 

relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment 

of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the 

financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company's 

circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which 

we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient e,·idence to give reasonable 

assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 

fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy 

of the presentation of information in the financial statements. 
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()pinion 

In our opinion: 

the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with UK Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice, of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 March 2007 and of its result 

for the year then ended; 

the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 

1985; and 

the information given in the Directors' Report is consistent with the financial statements. 

KPMG LLP 

Chartered Affo1111ta11ts 

Registered Auditor 

26 July 2007 
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